# **2017** PLANNING COMMISSION



425-452-6800 planningcommission@bellevuewa.gov

www.bellevuewa.gov

## **JULY 12**

#### Meeting 6:30 pm July 12

**Location** *Commission meetings are held in the Council Conference Room unless otherwise posted.* 

**Public Access** All meetings are open to the public and include opportunities for public comment.



## **Bellevue Planning Commission**

## AGENDA

## **Regular Meeting**

| July 12, 2017<br>6:30 PM - Regular Meeting |  |
|--|--|
| 6:30 PM – 6:35 PM                          | Call to Order  |
|  | Roll Call  |
|  | Approval of Agenda   |
| 6:35 PM – 6:50 PM                          | Communications from City Council, Community Council,                   |
|  | Boards and Commissions and Staff                                       |
| 6:50 PM – 7:00 PM                          | Public Comment   |
|  | The public is kindly requested to supply a copy of any                 |
|  | presentation materials and hand-outs to the Planning                   |
|  | Commission so it may be included in the official record.               |
|  | Please note, public comment for items related to a public              |
|  | hearing already held are limited to 3 minutes.                         |
| 7:00 PM – 8:30 PM                          | Study Session  |
|  | Digital Transition   |
|  | Staff: Charmaine Arredondo, Assistant Director, City Clerk's<br>Office |
|  | Matt McFarland, Assistant City Attorney, City Attorney's<br>Office     |
|  | Mark Zocher, IT End User Support                                       |
|  | General Order of Business – The Planning Commission is                 |
|  | transitioning to a digital format. Information packets will be         |
|  | produced and distributed electronically. The Planning                  |
|  | Commission will receive a tablet (iPad), get instructions on           |
|  | its use from IT and hear a presentation regarding open                 |
|  | government and public records from Pacifica Law Group.                 |
| 8:30 PM – 9:00 PM                          | Study Session  |
|  | Planning Commission By-Laws  |

|                    | Staff: Charmaine Arredondo, Assistant Director, City Clerk's<br>Office<br>Matt McFarland, Assistant City Attorney, City Attorney's<br>Office   |
|--------------------|--|
|                    | General Order of Business – The City Council is now requiring that the Bylaws of its Boards and Commission will be   |
|                    | standardized. The Clerk and City Attorney's office will  |
|                    | present the standardized By-Laws for the Planning  |
|                    | Commission for information and discussion. No action is<br>required tonight.   |
|                    |  |
| 9:00 PM – 9:30 PM  | Elections  |
|                    | Planning Commission Officer Elections  |
|                    | Current Officers:  |
|                    | John deVadoss, Chair   |
|                    | Stephanie Walter, Vice-Chair   |
|                    | General Order of Business - The Planning Commission will hold<br>their annual election of officers. There are two officer<br>positions up for election – Chair and Vice-Chair. The Planning<br>Commission will agree upon the rules of procedure and |
|                    | conduct a separate election for each officer.  |
| 9:30 PM – 9:45 PM  | Minutes to be Signed (Chair):  |
|                    | -  |
|                    | Draft Minutes Previously Reviewed & Now Edited:  |
|                    | -  |
|                    | New Draft Minutes to be Reviewed:  |
|                    | May 10, 2017   |
|                    | May 24, 2017   |
| 9:45 PM – 10:00 PM | Public Comment   |
|                    | Please note, public comment for items related to a public  |
|                    | hearing already held are limited to 3 minutes.   |
| 10:00 PM           | Adjourn  |

Please note:

- Agenda times are approximate only.
- Generally, public comment is limited to 5 minutes per person or 3 minutes if a public hearing has been held on your topic. The last public comment session of the meeting is limited to 3 minutes per person. The Chair has the discretion at the beginning of the comment period to change this.



## **Bellevue Planning Commission**

Planning Commission Members: John deVadoss, Chair Stephanie Walter, Vice Chair Jeremy Barksdale John Carlson Michelle Hilhorst Aaron Laing Anne Morisseau

#### Staff Contacts:

Terry Cullen, Comprehensive Planning Manager 425-452-4070 Emil King, Strategic Planning Manager 425-452-7223 Janna Steedman, Administrative Services Supervisor 425-452-6868 Kristin Gulledge, Administrative Assistant 425-452-4174

John Stokes, Council Liaison

\*IMPORTANT-Please click on the following public service announcement. It contains important information regarding access and parking at City Hall.

https://goo.gl/ZgS3pa



## Planning Commission Study Session

July 12, 2017

#### SUBJECT

**Digital Transition** 

#### DIRECTION NEEDED FROM PLANNING COMMISSION

Action X Discussion X Information

#### BACKGROUND

The Planning Commission is moving to a digital format for their agenda packets. In the future, the agenda packets will be produced in a digital format only and electronically transmitted to the Planning Commission. The Planning Commission is being issued tablets to use to read and annotate in electronic format.

The agenda packets will be hosted in Granicus, a third party vendor, using Legistar, identical to City Council. The agenda packets will be formatted in a manner similar to City Council. Planning Commissioners will be able to access the agenda packets on the 'iLegislate' application on their tablets. A link will be included on the Planning Commission's website directing visitors to the agenda packets. The format may look different to the visitor but the experience should be seamless.

Each of the Planning Commissioners will be issued a unique email address for their use in their capacity as a Commissioner.

The transition to an electronic format will save thousands of dollars in printing and delivery costs.

The Planning Commission will receive their iPads this evening. Representatives from the City's IT, Clerk and Attorney's offices will be attending the meeting to discuss a range of topics related to the digital transition and use of the tablet. Pacifica Law Group will give a presentation to the Planning Commission on open government and public records.

#### RECOMMENDATION

No action is required on this agenda item.



## Planning Commission Study Session

July 12, 2017

#### **SUBJECT**

Presentation of updated Planning Commission Bylaws

#### **STAFF CONTACTS**

Charmaine Arredondo, Assistant Director, 452-6466 *City Clerk's Office* 

Matt McFarland, Assistant City Attorney, 452-5284 *City Attorney's Office* 

#### **DIRECTION NEEDED FROM PLANNING COMMISSION**

ActionXDiscussionXInformation

#### BACKGROUND/ANALYSIS

In July of 2015, Council amended the City Code sections relating to Council-appointed Boards and Commissions in order to achieve consistency in each respective enabling code chapter. The amended code requires adoption of bylaws that are consistent with the code and with state law.

The purpose of tonight's study session item is to review the framework for updated bylaws for all City of Bellevue (City) Boards and Commissions appointed by the City Council. The intent is for each set of bylaws to conform with the Washington State Open Meetings Act (RCW 42.30), and to include elements of the City Council Rules of Procedure (Resolution 8928). These changes will provide uniformity and consistency among the various Council-appointed Boards and Commissions.

Staff requests direction from the Planning Commission concerning the sections of the bylaws that relate specifically to Planning Commission procedure and protocol. Staff will present the updated bylaws and identify the sections in the bylaws that are variable and require information specific to the Planning Commission. Following discussion, the Planning Commission will provide direction to Staff regarding edits and additions to the variable sections of the bylaws necessary to incorporate Planning Commission procedure and protocol. Staff will amend and finalize the bylaws for adoption by the Planning Commission at a later meeting.

#### **RECOMMENDATION**

Staff requests direction and feedback from the Planning Commission concerning the sections of the bylaws that address Planning Commission procedure and protocol. After staff receives this

information from the Planning Commission, staff will amend and finalize the bylaws for Planning Commission adoption at a later meeting.



#### PLANNING COMMISSION BYLAWS

These Bylaws constitute the official rules of procedure for the Planning Commission (hereinafter Commission). Where rules of procedure are not addressed in these Bylaws, the Commission shall be governed by the City Council's adopted Rules (Resolution No. 8928) and/or by *Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised*.

#### **ARTICLE I – Scope of Authority/Responsibility**

The members of the Commission accept the responsibility of the office and declare their intention to execute the duties defined under the State law and Bellevue City Code to the best of their ability and to respect and observe the requirements established by the Bellevue City Council.

The authority of the Commission is limited to those specific functions set forth in the Bellevue City Code, Chapter 3.64. The purpose of the Commission is advisory to the City Council.

The Commission shall have no authority or responsibility relating to the following activities:

- A. The Commission or its individual members shall not speak for or advocate on behalf of the City or Commission, or act in a manner that may be construed as representing the City, unless specifically authorized to do so by the City Council.
- B. The Commission or its individual members have no supervisory authority and shall not direct administrative operations, maintenance, or hiring of consultants and other independent contractors.
- C. The Commission shall not participate in regional issues not specifically assigned to the Commission by the City Council.

A member of the Commission is not authorized to speak on behalf of the Commission unless the Commission has expressly authorized the member's communication.

An individual member is free to voice a position, oral or written, on any issue after making it clear that the member is not speaking as a representative of the City or as a member of the Commission.

#### ARTICLE II - Membership and Organization of the Commission

#### A. <u>Membership</u>.

- 1. Each person at time of nomination and continuing uninterrupted thereafter while serving on the Commission shall be a resident of the City of Bellevue.
- 2. Each person to be appointed shall be nominated by the City Council Liaison for a specific, numbered position on the Commission.

- 3. Appointees shall commence service after confirmation by the City Council and the effective date of the previous member's resignation or expiration of the existing term for the position, as applicable.
- 4. Each confirmation motion by the City Council shall include the ending date and term for the position to which the member is appointed and that information shall be entered into the City Council meeting minutes and maintained in the Commission's records by the Deputy City Clerk.
- B. <u>Election of Officers</u>. The Commission shall elect a Chair and Vice-Chair, and any other officers the Commission deems necessary, for a term of one year at their first regular meeting in June of each year, or as soon thereafter as feasible based on seating of newly-appointed members.

The election process shall be in accordance with Roberts Rules of Order Newly Revised.

In the event of the resignation of the Chair or Vice-Chair, the Commission shall expeditiously elect a new officer to fill the vacancy.

In the absence of the Chair and Vice-Chair, a Chair pro-tem shall be elected informally by the members present to conduct the meeting.

- C. <u>Committees</u>. The Chair, with the concurrence of the Commission, may appoint standing committees or special committees of the Commission and assign one or more members to such committees.
- D. <u>Quorum</u>. At all meetings of the Commission, quorum shall consist of a majority of the members. Quorum must be maintained throughout the entirety of the meeting.
- E. <u>Ex officio members</u>. The City Council may approve the appointment of an ex officio member to the Commission. Ex officio members are authorized to sit at the table and participate in discussions, but are non-voting members.
- F. <u>Resignation</u>. A member may resign by giving written notice to the City Clerk and the Chair of the Commission.
- G. <u>Removal from office.</u> Members of the Commission may be removed at any time by the Mayor, upon approval of a majority of the Council, for neglect of duty, conflict of interest, unexcused absence from three consecutive regular meetings of the Commission, or for any reason deemed sufficient by the majority of the City Council. The decision of the Council shall be final and there shall be no appeal.
- H. <u>Vacancies</u>. Vacancies shall be reported immediately to the City Clerk.

Vacancies occurring for reasons other than the expiration of a term shall be filled for the unexpired portion of the term by appointment by the Mayor upon approval of a majority of the City Council.

I. <u>Staffing</u>. The Planning and Community Development Director shall assign staff support to the Commission.

#### **ARTICLE III - Duties of Officers**

A. <u>Presiding Officer</u>. The Chair shall be the presiding officer of the Commission. In the temporary absence of the Chair, the Vice-Chair shall perform the duties and responsibilities of the Chair.

It shall be the Presiding Officer's duty to see that the transaction of Commission business is in accord with these Bylaws.

- B. <u>Presiding Officer Duties</u>. It shall be the duty of the Presiding Officer to:
  - 1. Call the meeting to order.
  - 2. Keep the meeting to its order of business.
  - 3. Control the discussion in an orderly manner.
    - a. Introduce the agenda topic, provide for staff presentation and questions from the Commission, and call for discussion among the Commission members.
    - b. Give every Commission member who wishes an opportunity to speak.
    - c. Permit audience participation at the appropriate times.
    - d. Require all speakers to speak to the question and to observe the rules of order.
    - e. Give pro and con speakers opportunities to speak to a question when practicable.
    - f. Guide the Commission in providing direction to staff and making recommendations to the City Council.
  - 4. State each motion before it is discussed and before it is voted upon.
  - 5. Put motions to a vote and announce the outcome <u>or</u> summarize consensus direction achieved by the Commission.
  - 6. Decide all questions of order, subject to the right of appeal to the Commission by any member.

The Presiding Officer may at his or her discretion call the Vice-Chair or any member to take the Chair so the Presiding Officer may make a motion.

- C. <u>Commission Staff</u>. The Commission staff, or an authorized designee, shall attend all meetings of the Commission. The Commission staff shall:
  - a. Provide for noticing of special meetings or changed locations of meetings;
  - b. Post agendas and Commission packet materials for each meeting;
  - c. Record and retain, by electronic means, each meeting for the official record;
  - d. Provide for timely preparation of summary minutes of all Commission meetings;
  - e. Maintain the Commission's official records;
  - f. Manage correspondence on behalf of the Commission.

#### **ARTICLE IV – Council Liaison**

- A. The Mayor, with the concurrence of Council, shall appoint a Councilmember to serve as Liaison to the Commission.
- B. The Council shall identify roles and responsibilities for Liaisons to the Council's appointed Boards and Commissions.

#### **ARTICLE V** -- Meetings

Public notice of meetings of or hearings before the Commission shall be provided as required by law. Noticing of special meetings is provided by the Deputy City Clerk.

A. <u>Regular meetings</u>. The regular meetings of the Commission shall be held at 6:30 pm on the second and fourth Wednesdays of each month; unless there is critical or time-sensitive work, the Commission may recess for either the month of August or December.

Regular or continued meetings that fall on a holiday shall be rescheduled by the Commission.

B. <u>Special meetings</u>. Special meetings may be held by the Commission subject to notice requirements prescribed in state law. The notice for special meetings shall state the subjects to be considered, and no subjects other than those specified in the notice shall be considered.

Electronic mail shall be considered written notice to members for purposes of this rule.

- C. <u>Meeting place</u>. Meetings of the Commission shall be held at Bellevue City Hall unless otherwise noticed.
- D. <u>Open Public Meetings</u>. No legal action may be taken by the Commission except in a public meeting. "Action" is defined as the transaction of official business, but is not limited to receipt of public testimony, deliberations, discussions, considerations, reviews, evaluations, and final actions.

All meetings of the Commission shall be open to the public; provided, the Commission may hold Executive Sessions as permitted by law (RCWs 42.30.110 and 43.30.140).

Minutes will be prepared for all regular and special meetings and presented as soon as practicable for Commission review and approval. Minutes will include all pertinent information, motions, decisions made, and actions and votes taken. Minutes are not required to be taken at an Executive Session (RCW 42.32.030).

- E. <u>Public Notice</u>. Public notice of meetings or hearings before the Commission shall be provided as required by law. Notice of special meetings will be delivered in writing by mail or electronic mail at least 24 hours in advance to Commission members and to the City's newspaper of record and other media publications that have filed written requests of the City to be notified. The notice will specify the time and place of the special meeting and the business to be transacted.
- F. <u>Attendance</u>. Attendance at regular and special meetings is expected of all Commission members.

Any member anticipating absence from an official meeting should notify the Chair or Commission staff in advance.

Unexcused absences from three consecutive regular meetings shall be reported to the City Council for appropriate action as prescribed by Bellevue City Code, Section 3.64.010.

- G. <u>Remote participation</u>. A member not able to be physically present for a meeting may participate remotely using approved teleconferencing equipment. Remote participation must be approved in advance, by majority vote of the Commission, either at an earlier Commission meeting or before joining a current meeting. A member may participate remotely no more than four times per year, unless absent for medical reasons, and only two members may participate remotely during any one Commission meeting. Such remote participation will be considered attendance at the meeting and shall be counted toward determination of a quorum.
- H. <u>Recess</u>. The Commission may, by a majority vote or consensus, recess for a short break. The proposal to recess may set a time limit or run until the Chair calls the meeting back to order.
- I. <u>Continuation</u>. The continuation of a meeting shall be to a definite time and place and approved by majority vote.

J. <u>Adjournment</u>. Regular meetings of the Commission shall adjourn at \_\_\_\_\_ pm. The adjournment time may be extended to a later time certain upon approval of a motion carried by a majority of Commission members.

At the conclusion of the agenda, after calling for any additional business, the Chair may declare the meeting adjourned.

#### ARTICLE VI - Order of Business/Agenda

- A. Preparation of meeting agendas will be the duty of the Commission staff in coordination with the Chair.
- B. Copies of the agenda will be available to all Commission members at least two days prior to a regular meeting and 24 hours in advance of special meetings.
- C. The agenda will indicate whether formal action is intended to be taken by the Commission on a particular matter.
- D. The order of business for each regular meeting shall be as follows:
  - 1. Call to Order
  - 2. Roll Call
  - 3. Approval of Agenda
  - 4. Reports of City Council, Boards and Commissions
  - 5. Staff Reports
  - 6. Oral and Written Communications
  - 7. Public Hearing
  - 8. Study Session
  - 9. Other Business
  - 10. Approval of Minutes
  - 11. Continued Oral Communications
  - 12. Executive Session
  - 13. Adjournment
- E. The printed agenda of a regular meeting may be modified, supplemented or revised by a majority affirmative vote of the Commission members present.
- F. A topic on the agenda may be continued to subsequent meetings when it is apparent that one meeting will not be sufficient to complete the scheduled business.
- G. The order of business does not apply to Special Meetings.

#### **ARTICLE VII - Public Comment**

- A. <u>Timing of Communications</u>. The Commission shall not take public comment at regular meetings except for that given at a public hearing or at Oral and Written Communications. Written comments may be submitted to the Commission staff in advance of the meeting.
- B. <u>Addressing the Chair</u>. Speakers shall address all statements to the Chair. Commission members may direct questions to speakers only with the Chair's permission.

- C. <u>Public hearings</u>. The purpose of a public hearing is to gather information and opinions on a specific subject the Commission is studying. The following rules shall be observed during any public hearing:
  - 1. The Chair shall, at the opening of a public hearing, state the purpose of and process for the hearing and may request that staff provide an introductory staff report.
  - 2. Persons wishing to speak shall sign in on the sign-in sheet provided and will be called to speak in the order in which they signed.
  - 3. Speakers will be allowed three minutes in which to make their comments. Additional time will not be allowed unless the Chair or a majority of the Commission determines to allow additional time; provided, applicants or applicant representatives for a privately-initiated comprehensive plan amendment proposal will be allowed one presentation of up to 15 minutes (in total) for their comments. Other proponents for such a proposal will be allowed the general three minutes.
  - 4. Speakers are encouraged to indicate support for or opposition to previous comments rather than repeating prior testimony.
  - 5. No specific time limitations are placed on the length of public hearings.
  - 6. The Commission may continue a hearing to a future date or close a hearing after everyone wishing to speak has spoken.
  - 7. All written material provided before or during the hearing will be included in the hearing record.
  - 8. The Chair may allow additional time for receipt of written comments when needed.
- D. Oral Communications.
  - 1. The time allowed for Oral Communications shall not exceed thirty minutes.
  - 2. Persons wishing to speak shall sign in on the sign-in sheet provided and will be called to speak in the order in which they signed.
  - 3. Speakers will be allowed to speak for three minutes. Additional time will not be allowed unless the Chair or a majority of the Commission determines to allow additional time.
  - 4. Suspension of these rules will require a majority vote of the Commission members present.
- E. <u>Decorum</u>. Persons participating in Commission meetings are strongly encouraged to aid the Commission in maintaining the decorum and orderly progression of the meeting agenda. Engaging in shouting, use of profanity or slurs against others, disruptive noise, or comments that are off-topic detract from the ability of the Commission to conduct business. Where such conduct results in actual disruption of the meeting, the Chair may issue a verbal warning to the speaker and, if the behavior continues, have the speaker removed from the meeting room. Repeated disruption may result in the speaker being excluded from participating in public comment at one or more subsequent Commission meetings. If the Chair issues an exclusion to any speaker, he or she shall inform the person of the basis for the exclusion and the term of the exclusion. The Chair shall also notify the speaker that if he or she desires to address the Commission during the period of exclusion from public comment, he or she may submit written comments which will be received by the Commission staff and provided to each of the Commission members.

F. <u>Timekeeping</u>. The Commission staff shall be the timekeeper.

#### **ARTICLE VIII - Motions**

- A. No motion shall be entertained or debated until seconded and announced by the Chair. The motion shall be recorded and, if desired by any member, read by the Commission staff before it is debated. With the consent of the Chair, a motion may be withdrawn at any time before action is taken on the motion.
- B. Motions shall be entertained in the order of precedence outlined in *Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised.*

#### **ARTICLE IX - Voting**

- A. Action. Action may be taken by a majority of the members present when a quorum exists.
- B. <u>Votes on Questions</u>. Each member present or participating remotely shall vote on all questions put to the Commission except on matters in which he or she has been disqualified for a conflict of interest or under the Appearance of Fairness doctrine. Such member shall disqualify himself or herself prior to any discussion of the matter, stating the reason for the disqualification unless there is a legal impediment to disclosure. The disqualified member will then leave the meeting room.

Voting shall be accomplished by voice or through a showing of hands. Secret balloting is prohibited. Proxy votes of members not present are not valid votes. All votes shall be recorded in the Summary Minutes.

- C. <u>Tie Vote</u>. The passage of a motion is defeated by a tie vote, provided that the question may be brought forward again at the request of any member at the same meeting or at the next meeting when any members who were absent or disqualified at the time of the tie vote are present.
- D. <u>Failure to Vote</u>. Any Commission member who fails to vote without a valid disqualification shall be declared to have voted in the affirmative on the question.
- E. <u>Six-month Time Limitation</u>. Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, once a matter has been voted on and the time for reconsideration has passed with no action, the matter may not be taken up again for six months unless there is a showing of a substantial change of circumstances.
- F. <u>Decisions</u>. The Commission shall act as a body in making its decisions and in announcing them. The Chair or the Chair's designee shall serve as the spokesperson for the Commission in reporting decisions.

#### **ARTICLE X – Conflict of Interest, Appearance of Fairness, and Legal Assistance**

Commission members are held to high ethical standards and shall at all times comply with the provisions of Chapter 3.92 of the Bellevue City Code, as they exist now or as amended in future.

Any member of the Commission who, in his or her opinion, has an interest in any matter before the Commission that would tend to prejudice his or her actions shall so publicly indicate and shall step down and refrain from voting and participating in any manner on the matter in question to avoid any possible conflict of interest or violation of the appearance of fairness. When there is doubt concerning the legality of an issue, the City Attorney (or designee) may be called upon to advise members as to the legality of the proposed action. If necessary, a hearing or deliberation may be continued until legal matters can be clarified. Care must be taken in maintaining records of the proceedings when litigation is a possibility.

#### **ARTICLE XI - Minutes**

A. Minutes are the official record of a meeting. Electronic recordings of meetings (if made) are retained on-site for six years.

Minutes should be sufficiently detailed to provide what was done, by whom, and why, in order to provide an accurate summary of the main points of the discussion. Minutes are written to provide a readable, concise record of lengthy meetings, and as such not every speaker's comments on every topic are included.

If a Commission member wishes to ensure that a particular statement is included in the minutes, he or she should indicate, "For the record...." to signal the desire to have this comment included.

B. Draft minutes presented for approval in the meeting packet may be amended if a legally sufficient reason to do so exists.

Once approved, that page of amended minutes will subsequently show the following wording next to the spot of the amendment: "Corrected – see minutes of \_\_\_\_\_\_."

#### **ARTICLE XII - Compliance with Laws**

All Commission members shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws and ordinances, including but not limited to Chapter 49.60 RCW (Washington's Law Against Discrimination) and 42 U.S.C. 12101 et. seq. (ADA), BCC 3.92 (Code of Ethics), RCW 42.56 (Public Records Act), RCW 42.30 (Open Public Meetings Act), BCC 2.26 (Public Records) and the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Public Law 88-352).

#### **ARTICLE XIII - Communications**

- A. <u>Communications with Council.</u> The Commission shall provide at least quarterly communications to the City Council, either at Reports of Boards and Commissions or in written form. Reports should highlight major activities, future work plans, changes in work plans, and request any policy direction needed from the City Council.
- B. <u>Communications among Commission members</u>. To avoid possible violations of the Open Public Meetings Act, Commission members shall refrain from back-and-forth exchange of information, viewpoints, positions, or other dialogue via email, telephone, or in person among a quorum of the membership about the business of the Commission outside of a public meeting. Communications among less than a quorum that are then relayed by a participant to other members, who together constitute a quorum, are also prohibited.

#### **ARTICLE XIV** -- Records

The term "public records" applies to any paper, correspondence, completed form, bound record book, photograph, film, audio or video recording, map drawing, machine-readable material, video stream, email, text message, or social media that has been created or received by any state or local government agency during the course of public business and legislative records described in RCW 40.14.100. The following requirements apply to the Planning Commission and its individual members:

- A. Public records are the property of the City and must be managed (preserved, stored, transferred, destroyed, etc.) according to the provisions of RCW 40.14.
- B. Tools are in place to manage all emails sent to the Commission's email account (<u>planningcommission@bellevuewa.gov</u>), as well as individual city of Bellevue email accounts of Commission members, according to state law.
- C. Commission members are responsible for including Commission staff on all Commissionrelated communications, including forwarding any emails sent to the member in his/her individual capacity that occur outside of the Commission member's city provided email, to the <u>planningcommission@bellevuewa.gov</u> address. Any hard copy records shall also be transferred to staff for long-term maintenance.
- D. Members may be required to produce emails or documents that relate to the activities or operations of the Commission in response to a public disclosure request. Members may also be required to produce their personal notes taken at Commission meetings that relate to the activities and deliberations of the Commission. To the extent those notes contain information that is purely personal or material that is exempt under the Public Disclosure Act, they may not need to be provided to the requestor.
- E. As required by WAC 44-14-04003(2) and the City's Public Records Act Rules, the City must provide the fullest assistance in response to public disclosure requests. The City's Public Records Officer and a representative of the City Attorney's Office will review any documents that may be exempt from disclosure and will provide the necessary explanations of any exemptions to the requestor if access to particular records is denied. Courts may award monetary penalties should the City not respond fully or promptly.
- F. Commission members are advised to establish a separate, clearly-named file within their personal email account and/or on the hard drive of their personal computer to which they file all materials relating to the Commission.

#### **ARTICLE XV - Compensation and Reimbursement of Expenses**

Members of the Commission shall serve without compensation. Members shall be reimbursed for authorized travel or other expenses incidental to that service, which are authorized by the City Manager or City Council. Members should seek pre-authorization for any proposed expense.

#### **ARTICLE XVI – Amendments**

These Bylaws may be amended, revised, or repealed by the entire Commission at any regular meeting or any special meeting, provided that notice of such changes is included on the agenda and the vote to change takes place at the next regular meeting. Amendments will not be valid unless two-thirds of the membership of the Commission vote in favor of amending the Bylaws.

#### **ARTICLE XVII - Validity**

If any part or parts of these Bylaws are found to be invalid, that part or parts will not invalidate the remainder of the Bylaws.

Approved this \_\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 2017.

Chair

Director Planning and Community Development

\_\_\_\_\_, Commission Staff



## Planning Commission Elections

July 12, 2017

#### SUBJECT

Planning Commission Officer Elections

#### DIRECTION NEEDED FROM PLANNING COMMISSION

X Action X Discussion Information

BACKGROUND

# Annually, the Planning Commission elects two officer positions from within its membership – Chair and Vice-Chair. The elections are typically held on the last scheduled meeting of June. The term of office will be August 1, 2017 through July 31, 2018. Newly elected officers are seated with the first scheduled meeting in September typically. The current officers are seated through to the last scheduled meeting in July. August is considered to be a summer break, and no Planning Commission meetings are scheduled during this month.

Generally, the role of the Chair is to run the Planning Commission meetings in a good and orderly fashion, coordinate with the City staff and City Council liaison on matters affecting the Commission, and represent the Planning Commission at City Council and special events or meetings. The Vice Chair serves as an alternate to the Chair when the Chair cannot fulfill their responsibilities or as designated by the Chair.

There will be a separate election for each officer position. The general process is outlined below and repeated for each of the two officer positions' elections:

- 1. The Chair will ask for nominations. A second is not required.
- 2. The Chair will close the nominations. A motion to close is not required.
- 3. If there is only one nominee, the Chair will simply declare the nominee elected.
- 4. If there is more than one nominee, the Chair will call for a separate vote for each nominee. Voting is done with a voice vote by each individual Commissioner.
- 5. The election is declared final when one nominee receives the majority of votes.
- 6. If no nominee receives a majority of votes after the first round of voting, then successive rounds of voting are conducted until one candidate receives a majority of the votes.
- 7. The elections process is concluded once the two officer positions have been elected.

#### RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Planning Commission affirm the procedures for electing officers as described above and proceed to elect new officers for the 2017/2018 term of office.

### Upcoming Planning Commission Meeting Schedule

| Mtg   | Date               | Agenda Item Topic Pr  | <u>riority</u> | Agenda Type  | Location  |
|-------|--------------------|---|----------------|--|-----------|
| .7-13 | July 12, 2017      | Digital Transition  | 3              | Commission get an orientation on digital packets and iPads.  | City Hall |
|       |                    | Planning Commission ByLaws  | 3              | Commission reviews and discusses standardized By-Laws presented by City Attorney's office.   |           |
|       |                    | Planning Commission Elections   | 1              | Annual elections for Chair and Vice-Chair officer positions.   |           |
| 7-14  | July 26, 2017      | Grand Connection Phase 1 Framework  | 3              | Commission receives an information only presentation.  | City Hall |
| ., 14 | 5417 20, 2017      |   |                |  |           |
|       |                    | Affordable Housing Strategy - Presenta<br>Planning Commission Guiding Principle |                | Commission receives an information only presentation.<br>Commission begins developing their guiding principles. (post<br>retreat 2016) |           |
|       |                    |   |                |  |           |
|       | Summer Break       | No meetings will be held in Aug   | ust.           |  |           |
| L7-15 | September 13, 2017 | TBD   |                |  |           |
| 17-16 | September 27, 2017 | Comprehensive Plan Amendment Cycle<br>Final Review                              | 2              | Study Session to review all of the plan amendments together in the annual plan amendment work program.                                 | City Hall |
| 17-17 | October 11, 2017   | TBD   |                |  |           |
| 17-18 | October 25, 2017   | Comprehensive Plan Amendment Cycle<br>Final Public Hearing                      | 2 1            | Public hearing   | City Hall |
|       |                    | Comprehensive Plan Amendment Cycle<br>Final Review                              | 2              | Study Session to make recommendation to City Council regarding all the plan amendments in the annual work program.                     | City Hall |
| 17-19 | November 8, 2017   | Comprehensive Plan Amendment Cycle<br>Final Review                              | 2              | Study Session to make recommendation to City Council regarding all the plan amendments in the annual work program.                     | City Hall |
| 17-20 | November 15, 2017  | Annual Retreat (tentative)  |                |  |           |
|       |                    |   |                |  |           |
| L7-21 | December 13, 2017  | TBD   |                |  |           |

The Planning Commission will set public hearings, as needed, when the Commission approaches the conclusion of their deliberations.

**PLANNING COMMISSION** 

## CORRESPONDENCE



July 12, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting

#### Cullen, Terry

| From:           | Pam Johnston <pamjjo@msn.com></pamjjo@msn.com>    |
|-----------------|---|
| Sent:           | Friday, June 16, 2017 11:22 PM                    |
| To:             | PlanningCommission; Cullen, Terry; Matz, Nicholas |
| Subject:        | Wednesday July 14 Hearing                         |
| Follow Up Flag: | Follow up   |
| Flag Status:    | Completed   |

I want to personally thank you all for taking the time to hear from everyone at the meeting Wednesday night. For Commission members and staff, I thank you for putting in the time to get through the hours that this bulk of work represents. While I know that you have great pride in your work, a comp change amendment deserves special attention. I appreciate the level of your attention throughout the meeting, especially when you did not anticipate it. Many people felt hat the neighborhood leaders covered their main concerns that they were able to leave, but you stayed. I also appreciate your fairness in handling outburst, especially tricky for those who have never been at the meeting and have waited so long to speak. Also thank you for your handling of the children. Getting them off to bed was a very thoughtful.

-pamela johnston

Pamela Johnston 3741 122nd Ave NE 425.881.3301

1

#### **Cullen, Terry**

| From:        | Cullen, Terry  |  |
|--------------|--|--|
| Sent:        | Tuesday, June 27, 2017 9:01 AM   |  |
| То:          | Anne Morisseau; Jeremy Barksdale; John Carlson; John deVadoss; John deVadoss; Laing, |  |
|              | Aaron; Laing, Aaron; PlanningCommission; Stephanie Walter; Stokes, John              |  |
| Cc:          | Matz, Nicholas; Stroh, Dan; Cullen, Terry  |  |
| Subject:     | Bellevue Technology Center Comp Plan Amendment                                       |  |
| Attachments: | Letter to Planning Commission re BTC (6-26-17).pdf                                   |  |
|              | -  |  |

Importance:

#### High

#### Hello Everyone

Jack McCullough, representing KBS the owners of the Bellevue Technology Center, sent a letter and requested that I send it out to the Planning Commissioners. That letter is attached.

The email is withdrawing the Bellevue Technology Center plan amendment. Mr. McCullough explains the circumstances why the plan amendment is being withdrawn.

Staff is consulting the City Attorney's office to determine how to proceed, and we will apprise you once we have more information.

In the meantime, please do not cancel your plans to attend the Planning Commission meeting tomorrow night.

Thank you.

Sincerely

Terry Cullen, AICP Comprehensive Planning Manager Planning & Community Development Dept City of Bellevue 450 110<sup>th</sup> Ave NE Bellevue WA 98004

(425)-452-4070 tcullen@bellevuewa.gov

From: Jack McCullough [mailto:jack@mhseattle.com]
Sent: Monday, June 26, 2017 9:00 PM
To: Cullen, Terry <TCullen@bellevuewa.gov>; Stroh, Dan <DStroh@bellevuewa.gov>; Matz, Nicholas
<NMatz@bellevuewa.gov>
Cc: Ian Morrison <imorrison@mhseattle.com>
Subject: Bellevue Technology Center Comp Plan Amendment

#### Terry,

Here is a letter regarding this matter. I'd appreciate it if you would distribute it to the Commission members.

#### McCullough Hill Leary, ps

June 26, 2017

VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL

Planning Commission City of Bellevue 450 110th Avenue NE Bellevue, WA 98004

RE: Bellevue Technology Center Application No. 17-104627-AC-CPA

Dear Commission Members:

We are writing on behalf of KBS Capital Advisors ("KBS") regarding the above-referenced Comprehensive Plan amendment application (the "Application"). On June 14, 2017, the Commission conducted a public hearing on the Application. We did not expect the Commission to conduct a vote on the Application prior to the commencement of the public hearing, but the Commission did vote on the proposal before hearing our case. Our reading of LUC 20.30I.130 is that this vote is required to occur *following* the public hearing, not before.

We will have the opportunity to review this unconventional process with the appropriate City officials. In the meantime, since the Commission has already conducted a vote to deny the Application, additional Commission deliberation on the Application appears pointless. KBS therefore withdraws the Application.

6

Very truly yours,

-Ullalley olan C. McCullough

cc:

KBS Capital Advisors Futurewise Terry Cullen Dan Stroh Nicholas Matz

701 Fifth Avenue • Suite 6600 • Seattle, Washington 98104 • 206.812.3388 • Fax 206.812.3389 • www.mhseattle.com

CITY OF BELLEVUE



P.O. Box 90012 • Bellevue, WA • 98009-9012

June 27, 2017

Via Email & United States Mail

John C. McCullough McCullough Hill Leary, PS 701 Fifth Ave, Suite 6600 Seattle, WA 98104 jack@mhseattle.com

#### RE: Crossroads Subarea / Bellevue Technology Center CPA Application No. 17-104627 AC

Dear Mr. McCullough,

I write in response to your June 26, 2017 letter to the City of Bellevue's Planning Commission. At the outset, this correspondence confirms that your client, KBS Capital Advisors (KBS), has withdrawn its application for the Crossroads Subarea / Bellevue Technology Comprehensive Plan Amendment, No. 17-104627 AC (the Application).

To the extent that your letter or your client claims that the Planning Commission voted on the Application prior to commencement of the June 14, 2017 Public Hearing and/or voted on the Application prior to your client's presentation at the Public Hearing, these claims are not supported by the record. I have reviewed the audio recording and the draft minutes of the June 14, 2017 Public Hearing. There is no documentation in either of these records showing the Planning Commission conducted a vote on the Application or otherwise failed to comply with LUC 20.301.130.A.1.a.i.

Thank you for the written confirmation that your client has withdrawn the Application, and please do not hesitate to contact me if you have any questions or concerns regarding this correspondence.

Very truly yours,

Net ale

Matt McFarland Assistant City Attorney

cc: Clients

OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY (425) 452-6829 • FAX (425) 452-7256 CITY OF BELLEVUE OFFICES ARE LOCATED AT 450 110<sup>TH</sup> AVENUE NE, BELLEVUE, WA

#### CITY OF BELLEVUE BELLEVUE PLANNING COMMISSION STUDY SESSION MINUTES

| May 10, 2017<br>6:30 p.m. | Bellevue City Hall<br>City Council Conference Room 1E-113  |
|---------------------------|--|
| COMMISSIONERS PRESENT:    | Commissioners Carlson, Barksdale, Laing, Morisseau, Walter   |
| COMMISSIONERS ABSENT:     | Chair deVadoss, Commissioner Hilhorst  |
| STAFF PRESENT:            | Terry Cullen, Emil King, Department of Planning and<br>Community Development; Carol Helland, Patricia Byers,<br>Department of Development Services |
| COUNCIL LIAISON:          | Not Present  |
| GUEST SPEAKERS:           | None   |
| RECORDING SECRETARY:      | Gerry Lindsay  |
| CALL TO ORDER             |  |

CALL TO ORDER (6:34 p.m.)

The meeting was called to order at 6:34 p.m. by Vice-Chair Walter who presided.

ROLL CALL (6:34 p.m.)

Upon the call of the roll, all Commissioners were present with the exception of Commissioner Laing, who arrived at 6:59 p.m., and Chair deVadoss and Commissioner Hilhorst, both of whom were excused.

APPROVAL OF AGENDA (6:35 p.m.)

Commissioner Carlson suggested the agenda should be amended to take public comment only until 7:00 p.m., to take up the study session at that time, and to follow the study session with presentations from staff.

Comprehensive Planning Manager Terry Cullen pointed out that staff planned to include in their comments information germane to the study session discussion. It would be challenging to have the Commission discussion first and follow it up with the staff comments.

Land Use Director Carol Helland said the Commission had previously asked staff to return with additional information. She said some of that information was included in the packet materials, but added that staff planned to supplement that information through the use of slides and illustrations. It would be helpful to allow staff to go through the requested information ahead of each topic.

A motion to amend the agenda to conclude public comment at 7:00 p.m., and to approve the agenda as amended, was made by Commissioner Barksdale. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Morisseau and the motion carried unanimously.

COMMUNICATIONS FROM CITY COUNCIL, COMMUNITY COUNCILS, BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS - None (6:39 p.m.)

STAFF REPORTS - None (6:39 p.m.)

PUBLIC COMMENT (6:39 p.m.)

Mr. Mike Latori, 500 106th Avenue NE, Unit 611, said he serves as a member of the board of the Bellevue Towers Condominium Association. He said Bellevue Towers has 539 units in two towers in the DT-O1 district. The residents will all be impacted in one way or another as a result of any changes to the Land Use Code and are therefore interested in actively involved in following the process. The work done to date is appreciated but it must be said that after reviewing the multiple studies, reports and hearing testimony it is not an easy task to comprehend or disseminate to others much of the data. One of the goals of the Downtown Livability Initiative was to promote open space and light by building taller and skinnier buildings. The proposed changes, however, do not translate into skinnier buildings, just taller buildings. That will be especially true if the currently proposed 40-foot setback, 80-foot tower separation and ten percent floor plate reduction requirements are removed. Maximum building heights should be true maximums and there should be no tradeoff allowed to exceed the maximum. Specifically in the DT-O2 South district, the 250-foot maximum height in the current code is not in fact the maximum; there are footnotes and appendices that allow 15 percent additional height for amenities and another 15 feet for roof equipment and enclosures, making the true maximum height 302 feet. Many Bellevue Towers residents purchased south-facing units at a premium based on the current 250-foot maximum height, and the proposal to raise the maximum height to 365 feet would negatively impact the views and values for many Bellevue Towers residents. It is not a matter of protecting views, rather it has to do with making sound decisions based on actual data. To change the parameters after the fact will require well-thoughtout and explainable justifications, none of which can be found in any of the studies or reports. Height limits should be maintained as written for the core of the DT-O1 and DT-O2 districts. The current amenity incentive system should be simplified by the listing of very specific community needs and not what is incorporated into the design of a new building. The various reports stipulate 23 specific amenities, each of which can be interpreted in many ways, and which may result in very little community benefit. Amenities should be more specific and defined as contributing to the community. Amenities built into the design of proposed buildings should be eliminated because their value is more toward marketing the building rather than benefiting the community.

Mr. Kevin Whitaker, 10770 NE 4th Street, Unit 2802 in Bellevue Towers, concurred with the previous speaker. He said many downtown people are frustrated because of the opacity of the process, the regulations and the governing documents that are defining the rules in the downtown. Most did their due diligence when they sought to purchase units in the downtown, and they made certain assumptions based on what was included in the regulations with regard to building height and setbacks. The regulations directly impact their investments in their homes. The process has created some cynicism in regard to what is going on, and the dense data is not

something lay persons can dig into and understand. The data is seemingly being used as justification for what amounts to a wealth transfer. Many feel the rug is being pulled out from under them by the process and by interests seeking to take advantage of a lack of sophistication on the part of downtown residents.

Commissioner Carlson asked if downtown residents who purchased units under the old building height rules could have a claim that changing the rules to allow taller buildings that take away views amounts to a taking.

Mr. Jack McCullough, 701 5th Avenue, Suite 6600, Seattle, said the short answer is no. If conditions are placed on a project that prevent it from being used, or which are out of proportion to an impact a project creates can be interpreted as a taking. However, in terms of loss of value, which is the implication relative to loss of views, the courts have said that to create a taking a property's value must be diminished by something like 85 to 90 percent. A good example would be downzoning a property so that it could only be used for a park. He called attention to the fact that several weeks ago Chair deVadoss sent him off to address and resolve the height issue, and said that mission had been accomplished. The language in the proposed footnote 12 creates opportunity to allow for additional height under limited circumstances in the B2 district. With regard to parking, he suggested leaving the 20 percent discount alone. There may be some issues in Old Bellevue, but not in the rest of the downtown relative to mixed use projects. To tinker on one part of the parking formula but not another could lead to unanticipated results. He suggested the information in the Commission's packet wraps up the direction given to staff except for the issue of tower separation relative to 60 feet versus 80 feet.

Mr. Arnie Hall, 17227 SE 40th Place, thanked the Commissioners for their hard work. He suggested that two important issues are yet to be determined. The first is the trigger height. The Commission made the difficult decision of agreeing to raise the new base FAR to 90 percent of the new maximum FAR. To be consistent, the trigger height should be set at 90 percent of the new maximum height to avoid any unintended consequences or advantages between properties in the downtown. Developers contribute in many ways, including through traffic impact fees, frontage improvements, on-site and off-site traffic mitigation, and in other ways. Making things even across the downtown will be consistent with the Commission's decision on the base FAR. The second issue is the parking reduction. He agreed that the 20 percent reduction for mixed use projects in the downtown has worked well. It has caused some concern in Old Bellevue and any revisions to the parking code should address the challenges in that part of the city.

Mr. Patrick Bannon spoke as president of the Bellevue Downtown Association (BDA). He said one issue that has come up several times centers on the usability of and how to navigate the code. He suggested the Commission should provide direction to the Council in the transmittal memo to ensure that a very clear index and understandable guide to the new code is included in the Land Use Code update. With regard to the base height issue, he said there remains on the table a significant discrepancy in the DT-OLB where the base height is at 26 percent of the new maximum, which results in having to provide far more amenities when compared to the other zones. He said he has had opportunity to have conversations with Bellevue Downtown Association members and with downtown residents, some of whom are new to the process and some of whom have been with the process for a long time. There appears to be some confusion about where additional FAR has been proposed. Consistent with the CAC, the process to date has continued to emphasize additional FAR in the DT-OLB district along I-405. The Commission has also looked at possible additional FAR relative to the site at Main Street and 112th Avenue NE. The CAC and the Commission both reached the conclusion that the nonresidential FAR should be matched with the residential FAR in the DT-MU district. Otherwise,

the height changes considered for the downtown do not include additional density, though there is still on the table consideration for exempting some FAR for affordable housing.

Mr. Bill Herman, 10770 NE 4th Street, spoke representing L for Bell, a group of about 150 people who oppose the draft Land Use Code. He said the issue of equalization is bad for livability and was controversial at the CAC level. He proposed leaving equalization out of the final recommendation. The justification for it is to balance incentives between commercial and residential in the DT-MU. The proposed FAR increase is a 100 percent increase, which is not justified. Commercial traffic in the DT-MU is not wanted. Rush hour traffic is the downtown's biggest problem, and putting commercial traffic a half a mile away or more from the transit center is not the answer. It would be preferable to have the new density in the DT-OLB. Tall and skinny buildings are better than short and boxy buildings for reasons of livability. The 425 Center had the option of building half the floorplate and twice the height and chose not to. Developers will not want to build taller and skinnier unless forced to do so. The Commission should vote to remove all of the additional height.

Mr. Brian Brand with Baylis Architects said he also serves as co-chair of the BDA's livability committee. He said he has been involved in pushing for the code update for the past 13 years and especially over the last four years. The BDA supports flexibility in height increases minus FAR density increases. Taller and slimmer buildings will improve the design and livability benefits. Flexibility is needed to create the opportunity for more creative designs. Tower height cannot be increased without making floorplates smaller. The BDA has not proposed increasing the FAR and in fact does not want to see additional density except in the DT-OLB. Taller buildings that do not include more density are necessarily slimmer buildings. The benefits are more light and air, improved view corridors, and more spacing between towers. As currently written, FAR and height are pretty well matched, so buildings that achieve their maximum FAR end up being shorter and fatter, the very type of design that blocks views through their sites and cutting out light and air.

Ms. Michelle Herman, 10770 NE 4th Street, encouraged Commissioner Carlson to broaden his question about new building height resulting in a taking. Given that there have been numerous concerns raised about the process and the lack of ability for certain parts of the community to participate effectively, and given the number of objections that have been raised with regard to not only the proposed changes but also the current code, she suggested asking if the collective changes could result in a takings claim. She thanked Mr. Bannon for recently reaching out to her and initiating a very good conversation about residents and developers who appear to be completely opposed on various issues could work better together going forward. There is potential common ground. Upzoning the DT-OLB would be a good compromise given that it is close to both transit and I-405, meaning that additional traffic will not be brought into the downtown core. The argument has been made that people will walk from the light rail station into the downtown core, but that will require that they walk uphill for three quarters of a mile. Most will likely choose to drive instead. Adding density to the DT-OLB only makes sense. With regard to the amenity incentive system, the city should try a staged approach, beginning with some upzoning in the DT-OLB and fixes to the amenity system to see what happens before changing them for the entire downtown. Adherence to the wedding cake design is a red herring; there is no wedding cake design for the DT-OLB and there is no reason to adhere to it strictly and rigorously because upzoning the district will not impact transitions to the neighborhoods.

STUDY SESSION (7:05 p.m.)

Downtown Livability - Review of Draft Downtown Land Use Code Amendment

Strategic Planning Manager Emil King noted that the packet included a reprint of the materials from the May 3 meeting packet, as well as the consolidated code draft capturing the Commission's direction to date following the March 8 public hearing.

With regard to downtown parking, Mr. King said the direction received from the Commission on April 26 was to remove the flexibility that had been included in the public hearing draft of the code to allow developers to go either above or below the parking ratios through a parking study. The Commission had also expressed a desire to have more discussion about the current code provisions about the 20 percent shared parking discount.

Land Use Director Carol Helland commented that the consolidated code provisions reflecting the Commission's direction had the code flexibility removed with respect to the modification. The only modification left relative to the 20 percent shared parking discount was to allow it only through a parking study rather than automatically.

Mr. King shared with the Commissioners a graph showing the cumulative parking demand by type of use. He explained that overlapping businesses can operate with different peak hours, which is the philosophy behind shared parking.

Commissioner Walter said she was satisfied with changing the language to allow for a 20 percent shared parking reduction through a parking study. Ms. Helland said that code language could be found on page 68 of the packet.

Commissioner Morisseau said the 20 percent shared parking reduction has been highlighted as being a problem in the Old Bellevue area. She asked why that would be the case given that the code applies citywide. Mr. King acknowledged that there are a number of issues related to parking in Old Bellevue that have been raised before the Commission over the last year. Others have said there are parts of the city that are becoming built out and where shared parking exists it is not signed and operated appropriately, making it difficult to use.

Commissioner Carlson suggested the problem is not exclusive to Old Bellevue. Old Bellevue is in fact the canary in the coal mine and the issue is going to be a downtown-wide issue if the city does not get a handle on it. He said he questioned why the city was expanding Downtown Park without including a single additional parking space. With the residential and the commercial on Main Street in Old Bellevue, the parking issue is a collision that did not need to happen. The issue will pop up in more and more places throughout the city over time. Ms. Helland reminded him that the Commission had previously recommended including in the transmittal memo to the Council a request that a comprehensive parking study be undertaken soon. The study has in fact been funded and staff have started cataloging ideas to put forward as part of the recommendation in the transmittal memo relative to items that go beyond the code.

Commissioner Laing said the language regarding the shared parking provision should be clear that it is for non-residential uses only, and that required residential visitor parking cannot be used as part of the shared parking. Mr. King called attention to page 153 of the packet and suggested using the language that was drafted in talking about the parking reductions. Commissioner Laing said that would work for him. Ms. Helland agreed to make the change.

Answering Commissioner Morisseau's request to clarify the 20 percent reduction, Ms. Helland explained that under the current code the 20 percent discount is provided automatically without

any parking study. The language of the consolidated code includes a requirement for a parking study to ensure that the parking supply will meet the demand based on the peak usage requirement. Other jurisdictions allow a discount of anywhere between 20 and 30 percent on the hope that things will work out in the wash, though some jurisdictions do in fact require a parking study to justify up to a 20 percent discount.

Commissioner Laing said it was his understanding that Commissioner Carlson was going to need to leave the meeting early and suggested focusing on the big rocks prior to his departure.

Commissioner Laing commented that a letter from Wallace Properties had been included in the Commission's May 3 packet. The letter contained some very specific recommendations.

A motion to direct staff to incorporate the proposed changes from the Wallace Properties May 10, 2017, letter to the Commission into the draft code was made by Commissioner Laing.

Commissioner Morisseau said she was not entirely comfortable in doing that. She noted the need to discuss floorplate size and stated that part of the Wallace letter makes reference to floorplate size. Commissioner Laing said the intent of his motion was to generally accept the suggestions made in the letter. Once incorporated into the draft, the Commission will be able to see how the changes play out before going forward.

Commissioner Morisseau pointed out that the Wallace letter states that the fee in-lieu rate should be \$25 per square foot rather than \$28 per square foot, and that is not something the Commission has talked about. The letter also proposes larger floorplates. She said she was not comfortable having either of those items in the draft. Commissioner Laing said he would accept carving out those two items as a friendly amendment to his amendment.

Commissioner Carlson said he would be willing to second the motion without the friendly amendment. He added, however, that he was amenable to the amendment.

Commissioner Laing said he had been working on the downtown livability issue for the past four years along with others in the room. He suggested that with the way the conversation was going, the Commission would spend the entire meeting talking about minor variations of the same information that has been under discussion for four years. What will happen is the Commission will find itself on May 24 having run out of time to make recommendations and will try to do something meaningful without having meaningfully moved the draft forward. He said he wanted to move things forward, taking advantage of having five Commissioners in the room before there would be only four.

Commissioner Walter suggested that putting everything into the draft for review on May 24 would not necessarily serve as a productive use of the Commission's time.

Commissioner Carlson said the Commission has been talking about most of the topics for a very long time. He said the direction set forth in the Wallace letter is the direction the Commission should take. He said he would be willing to carve out the issues Commissioner Morisseau had expressed concern about and discuss them separately.

Commissioner Carlson seconded Commissioner Laing's motion.

Commissioner Barksdale called out the need to notate the source for the various changes to the draft. Code Development Manager Patricia Byers said staff could do that.

The motion carried with Commissioners Barksdale, Carlson and Laing voting for, and Commissioner Morisseau voting against.

Commissioner Laing called attention to a letter dated May 10, 2017, from PMF Investments in which a suggestion was made to allow floorplates only in the DT-OLB South zone between 80 and 150 feet to be increased by 25 percent, up to 25,000 square feet, subject to the same standards of tower separation and light and air impacts as proposed in the staff recommendation.

A motion to direct staff to incorporate into the draft the change recommended in the May 10, 2017, PMF Investment letter was made by Commissioner Laing. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Carlson and the motion carried unanimously.

Commissioner Laing said he would not take part in any discussion of the Elan/Fortress project. He said during his tenure as co-chair of the Downtown Livability Initiative CAC, he was contacted on a few occasions, without any bad intent, by representatives of the property owner asking him in his professional capacity as a land use attorney to assist with a rezone of the property. He clarified that the proposal before the Commission is not something he ever had a substantive conversation about. He said he disclosed his communications with the property owner to the city attorney and to the city's ethics officer a little over a year ago, and subsequently made the decision not to participate in any way in discussion anything that involves the Elan/Fortress property or their proposal. Ms. Helland noted that the Elan/Fortress property representative has come to the table claiming satisfaction with the information that is in the packet.

Commissioner Carlson left the meeting.

With regard to the amenity incentive system, Mr. King said the two items for which the Commission previously requested follow-up information were the list of bonusable amenities and a shorter periodic review cycle of seven years rather than ten. The Wallace letter covers about half of the proposed amenities. Additionally, the list of suggested bonusable amenities highlighted by the public included sports and recreation facilities; public open air markets; museums; publicly accessible amenity spaces on rooftops or tops of podiums; roof gardens; residential amenity space; mid-block pedestrian crossings; and through-block connections. He said five of those items were included in the Wallace letter and accordingly would be added to the draft code.

Commissioner Barksdale asked how likely it was the market would provide the listed amenities without an incentive to do so. Mr. King said certainly a few of them would be incorporated into develops without being incentivized. Commissioner Barksdale said he would favor not including the listed items.

Ms. Helland said one item on the list is currently a requirement and the request has been to make it a bonusable amenity, namely the through-block connections. Commissioner Walter asked what would qualify as a residential amenity space and Ms. Helland said that would be things like an exercise room, swimming pool or meeting rooms just for the use of residents in the building.

Commissioner Barksdale said any item the market will take care of or which does not provide a public benefit should not be on the list of amenity incentives. He suggested residential amenity space is one such item. Ms. Helland clarified that the Wallace letter calls for bonusing publically accessible spaces on building rooftops or on the top of podiums, which is not the same as

residential amenity space.

Commissioner Morisseau said anything that is already a requirement should remain a requirement. She noted that some from the public and stakeholder community have actually recommended getting rid of the amenity incentive system, making some of the items on the list requirements instead. Ms. Helland said as part of the initial discussion with the Commission, questions were asked about the items currently in the consolidated code, with a focus on whether there are too many of them, or whether there are too few of them and new ones should be added. Commissioner Morisseau agreed with Commissioner Barksdale that items the market will take care of on its own should not be added to the list.

Commissioner Laing pointed out that as drafted, ten percent of the allowable FAR must be earned by providing bonusable amenities. If the amenity incentive system is done away with, it will be necessary to just give every development the full amount of FAR and to simply require different items. Determining what should and should not be required would take a long conversation. He suggested focusing instead on what should and should not be on the list of bonusable amenities.

Ms. Helland said the list of amenities starting on page 161 of the packet are consistent with the amenity principles discussed by the Council and the Commission in the joint meeting. The question is whether the amenities suggested in the Wallace letter should be added, or if any of the amenities suggested by the public should be added.

Commissioner Laing pointed out that what is suggested in the Wallace letter is a way of allowing small lots the opportunity to actually earn the last ten percent of the maximum FAR. Small lots are problematic for a number of reasons, including limited space for including ground-level amenities. Rooftops and the upper level of podiums are in many instances the only place to provide amenities on small lots. He agreed that interior residential amenity space should not be bonusable. Ms. Helland said the items listed, absent the interior residential amenity space, could be drafted as applying only to small lots.

Commissioner Walter asked if the flexible amenity could be written to apply to small lots. Commissioner Laing said the flexible amenity should be allowed to stand on its own. The list of amenities serve as a menu of items developers can order, whereas the flexible amenity is intended to allow for creative alternatives. Mr. King allowed that as written the flexible amenity gives developers the opportunity to suggest alternatives through a specific process. It has historically been viewed as encompassing larger and more grandiose items that are not on the list, but it could be interpreted as taking into account a number of small things as well. Ms. Helland said the flexible amenity essentially serves as a departure for small sites.

Mr. King sought clarification from the Commission as to whether the proposed amenities highlighted in the Wallace letter should be considered as applying to small lots only or for all lots.

Commissioner Morisseau said she would prefer to not add the Wallace suggestions and instead rephrase the flexible amenity to address alternative amenities for small lots. Ms. Helland said there are a couple of approaches that could be taken that would neck down the need to expand the list of amenities. One option would be to rely on the flexible amenity, which would not require much rewriting. Another option would be to acknowledge that small sites of 40,000 square feet or less face different challenges by creating a departure for them, which is an approach the Commission has been amenable to in the past. The third option would be to retain

the body of amenities as they have been drafted.

Commissioner Laing said things like sports and recreation facilities, public open air markets, museums and through-block connections are all items that developers can only avail themselves of if they have a substantial project limit. Midblock pedestrian crossings could be done by any developer. He stressed the importance of having items on the list that small property owners can take advantage of and said he could support adding the highlighted items suggested by the public, with the exception of interior residential amenity space.

Commissioner Walter suggested a small lot might or might not have room for a public open air market. She proposed including the list of amenities suggested by the public as examples under the flexible amenity, though not as an exhaustive list. The Commissioners concurred and Ms. Helland said staff would take a stab at it.

There was also agreement to include from the Wallace letter small sites amenities publically accessible rooftops or amenity spaces, amenity spaces on roofs of podium or tower structures, roof gardens that are not necessarily publically accessible, and enhanced landscaping.

With regard to adaptive management, Commissioner Barksdale said the approach is data driven rather than time driven. He said developers put their stake in the ground at the permit stage. Given the plans that are already in the works, plus those coming through in permits, it is possible to project the effects on the downtown area. The city should be able to revisit the amenity incentive system based on what is coming through and make adjustments accordingly rather than waiting for a specific number of years.

Commissioner Walter asked how the approach would be administered, where the data would be collected and monitored, and how the city would know it was time to revise the amenity incentive system. Commissioner Barksdale agreed it would be easier to do the look back on a set time schedule, but he suggested that what is easy is not always effective. By tracking the data, the city could shift the weighting of the individual items or sunset particular amenities based on what is coming through development projects.

Ms. Helland said an approach that has been used by the state legislature and indeed by the city in some cases involves reporting on implementation. She said the seven- to ten-year update could be retained while agreeing to report out on an annual basis on the amenities that are being used. Where the need to make course corrections is identified, the corrections could be made based on that information. An annual reporting form could be developed to track the amenities used.

Commissioner Laing reminded the Commission that the Downtown Livability Initiative CAC unanimously recommended a five-year look-back. Of course there is a concern that even given the best intentions, the look-back might not happen unless prioritized by the Council. Mr. King noted that as drafted, the code calls for a period review every seven to ten years as initiated by the Council. The Commission previously discussed shortening the time interval or undertaking an alternative approach. Commissioner Barksdale said he would prefer to see both the backstop and the tracking report included in the code.

There was agreement to use five to seven years as the backstop timeline.

With regard to the tower separation issue, Mr. King noted that the Commission had previously given direction to have a 20-foot setback from interior property lines between project limits. That direction has been written into the code. The definition of a tower has also been revised to reflect

100 feet rather than 75 feet, and to indicate that the tower spacing must occur at 80 feet rather than 45 feet in line with previous direction given by the Commission.

Mr. King noted that the Commission had asked for additional discussion in regard to 80-foot versus 60-foot tower spacing. He said the Wallace letter addresses the subject but mainly focuses on one site for which an analysis was done. He asked the Commissioners to comment as to whether the direction in the Wallace letter should apply everywhere in the downtown or just to the site highlighted in the letter.

Commissioner Laing commented that ever since the stakeholder started to understand the tower spacing issue, the Commission has engaged in whack-a-mole. Staff has been amazing at bringing forward research on approaches used by other cities and indeed other countries. He proposed leaving the language in the draft as is and challenge someone to come in on May 24 with something that will actually work. If the Commission likes it, it can adopt it or make changes.

A motion to retain the language in the current adopted Land Use Code relative to tower setback and tower spacing for the May 24 meeting was made by Commissioner Laing.

Commissioner Laing clarified that the current code calls for 40-foot tower separation based on the building code. Ms. Helland added that the current code carries the separation requirement across property lines, and pointed out that the building code does not apply a tower separation requirement on an individual property, thus under the existing code there is no tower separation on a single project limit. Commissioner Laing said he understood that.

Commissioner Barksdale asked what the setback is in the current code. Ms. Helland said it defaults to the building code, which is 20 feet from property lines unless property lines are combined. On a single site, there is no prescribed limit between buildings given that multiple buildings on a single site are considered to be a single building for purposes of administration of the building code. There is no provision in the current Land Use Code about building separation. She reminded the Commission that the notion of building separation was a hallmark of the Downtown Livability Initiative CAC recommendation for light and air.

Commissioner Laing respectfully disagreed that building separation was a hallmark of the CAC's recommendation. He said he did not recall having any meaningful conversations at the CAC level about tower separation. There was talk about light and air, but no specific call to increase tower separation, just as the CAC did not make a recommendation for taller buildings with the exception of the DT-OLB district and some minor tweaks. The CAC operated on the principle of doing no harm.

Commissioner Barksdale said if the CAC advocated in favor of more light and air, and if the code does not currently require tower separation within a single property, the goal of achieving more light and air will not be reached. Commissioner Laing pointed out that projects would still have to meet the building code, and the draft also proposes new design guidelines that talk about reducing floor plates for taller buildings. No one has come forward screaming that their towers are too close together. As outlined, tower separation feels like a solution looking for a problem. The Commission has spent a huge amount of well-intentioned time trying to come up with something different from the existing code that will not gut redevelopment in the downtown. It has not found it yet, so things should be kept as they are, leaving the door open to someone coming forward with a compelling case for why things should be different.

Commissioner Barksdale asked if the CAC discussed the issue of light and air on the

understanding that currently there is insufficient light and air, or because it was being aspirational. Commissioner Laing said the conversations at the CAC level about light and air were nowhere near as in-depth as the conversations had to date on the topic by the Commission. Light and air is certainly not an unimportant thing. The CAC talked a lot about the amenity system, about the DT-OLB district, about the sidewalk and landscaping standards, and about the need for more park land in the downtown. Very little time was spent on tower separation outside of considering taller buildings if they are skinnier.

Commissioner Morisseau said the recommendations of the CAC represent a vision, and the work done by the Commission is focused on implementing that vision. The vision of the CAC was to increase light and air, and requiring towers to be separated is how to implement the vision. For stakeholders, the issue has been the combination of an 80-foot tower separation and a 40-foot set from interior property lines. The Commission concluded that separating towers by 60 to 80 feet would be workable for many stakeholders if done in conjunction with a setback of only 20 feet, and would also achieve the goal of increasing light and air. If there are going to be taller buildings, it makes sense that the distance between them should be increased. She also noted that Commissioner Carlson had asked for more discussion of 60 feet versus 80 feet but was not present to participate in the discussion. The language of the consolidated code should be retained, allowing for either a 60- or 80-foot tower separation requirement.

Ms. Helland said the tower separation issue has been in the draft since November. In multiple meetings between staff and stakeholders, tower separation of 60 or 80 feet was not the lightning rod. The problem was the setback from interior property lines. The draft code has removed the initial 40-foot setback in favor of the current 20-foot setback, which is consistent with the building code.

The motion made by Commissioner Laing was not seconded.

Commissioner Walter said she would be comfortable with a 60-foot tower separation in place of the 80-foot requirement in the draft code.

A motion to change the 80-foot tower separation requirement to 60 feet was made by Commissioner Morisseau. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Barksdale and the motion carried unanimously.

\*\*BREAK\*\* (8:26 p.m. to 8:37 p.m.)

With respect to reducing floorplate size above the trigger height, Mr. King noted staff had previously received from the Commission direction to remove the ten percent outdoor plaza requirement. A related element and one of the objectives was to yield a more slender urban form. Good examples were previously given in regard to how the proposed ten percent floorplate reduction would play out. One argument made by Commissioner Laing was that floorplate reductions would probably be more important in some parts of the downtown and less important in others.

For the DT-O1 district, the draft code is written to require a ten percent reduction in the maximum floorplate size of 13,500 square feet for a residential tower where it exceeds the current building height of 450 feet. If done equally on each façade, the ten percent <u>reduction</u> is not significant. A <u>developerdevelop</u> could choose to reduce the floorplate on a single side or on all four side. There are provisions in the code that allow for diminishing

floorplates and averaging them from 80 feet and up, provided that no one floorplate exceeds the maximum allowed in the zone. The intent is to result in a more elegant structure. Non-residential office towers in the same zone typically have larger floorplates, up to 24,000 square feet above 80 feet. A reduction of ten percent will result in a reduction of each façade by about five feet if done equally.

Mr. King commented that office floorplates can be more impactful given that they are larger than residential floorplates. He urged the Commissioners to keep in mind the feasibility of reducing floorplate size in new development, noting that stakeholders had questioned the feasibility of dropping below 20,000 square feet for office. The Commission should consider where floorplate reductions of more than ten percent might make sense for given uses and given zones.

Commissioner Laing reiterated the statement <u>hein</u> made at the last meeting about the ten percent reduction in the floorplate would result in an almost imperceptible change from outside the building. He said he understood the concern expressed by the BDA about not getting taller and slimmer buildings, just taller buildings with essentially the same mass. He said he was not in a position to just pick a square footage and require developers to make it work. At the same time, it would be disingenuous to allow for height increases in exchange for skinnier buildings without having something specific in the code that requires skinnier buildings.

Commissioner Morisseau said she had previously asked staff to come to the Commission with examples of approaches used by similar cities. Mr. King said staff's research on office development has shown that the floorplate sizes of 20,000 square feet to 24,000 square feet are fairly typical. Some jurisdictions allow larger floorplates closer to ground level. The interesting forms of some of the iconic skylines across the country clearly to involve a tapering down of floorplate size, though it is typically done to achieve a sculptural element. Vancouver, B.C. allows residential floorplates below 12,000 square feet. Clearly floorplate reduction is more of an issue for office developments given their need for more space per floor. However, a highrise with 24,000 square foot floorplates going up to 600 feet would require some land assemblage of up to 28 acres. There are bonuses available in the DT-O1, but some creativity would need to come into play to have an office building go up to the maximum height.

Commissioner Laing said he hoped input would be received from design professionals before the Commission makes a final recommendation to the Council that will be absolutely opposed to the notion of livability. Mr. King proposed retaining in the draft the ten percent floorplate reduction requirement while keeping an ear open to hear from the public and stakeholders about how to assure taller and more slender towers.

Ms. Helland noted that the Wallace letter suggests alternative directions for the maximum floor plates in the DT-MU. The suggestion was that the maximum floor plate for office should be increased so that once the ten percent reduction is applied it would be effectively brought back down to 20,000 square feet.

Commissioner Morisseau asked what the lowest floorplate size would be in the DT-MU with the ten percent reduction. Ms. Helland said in that district above 80 feet the floorplate would be less than 20,000 square feet. As drafted, the DT-MU allows floorplates up to 22,000 square feet up to 40 feet and 20,000 square feet above 80 feet. The suggestion is to equalize the floorplate sizes in the district at 22,000 square feet so that when the ten percent reduction kicks in the floorplate will not be reduced to less than 20,000 square feet. Commissioner Morisseau said if the goal is more slender buildings, a smaller floorplate will achieve that.

Commissioner Walter agreed that mathematically that makes sense, but the question is whether or not such buildings would get built. A smaller floorplate would ensure thinner buildings, but it might also make invisible buildings.

Commissioner Laing said that was his concern as well. He said he had been running scenarios with 22,000 square feet as the basic commercial floorplate to determine what actual heights would be achievable and the types of properties that would be needed. In the Denny Triangle in Seattle, which is admittedly a unique circumstance, the tower width above 75 feet cannot be more than 80 percent of the north-south façade. The purpose is allow for light from the east-west exposure and by having some restriction on the north-south façade, allowance is made for the sun at its lowest angle in the sky to shine between buildings. He stressed that he was not endorsing that approach, rather that he was saying there are other ways of putting a metric in the code that might have the same effect, though in a more flexible manner.

Commissioner Walter allowed that Bellevue has both sunshine and shadows to address. Bellevue also has the issue of livability. What the code should bring about is buildings that can get built, buildings that are appealing, and a downtown people will want to live in.

There was agreement to retain the code as drafted with the ten percent reduction in floorplate size.

Commissioner Walter asked to have the materials for the May 24 meeting delivered to the Commissioners sooner rather than later to allow for thoroughly reviewing it. Said it would also be helpful to ask the public to submit comments a week in advance of the meeting so they can also be reviewed and considered.

Commissioner Barksdale agreed but added that while developer economics are important, the Commission should have a balanced perspective with a focus on both livability and developer economics.

Ms. Helland said staff went over the materials previously prepared by them and compared them to the Wallace letter and the PMF Investments letter from May 10 and concluded that the DT-OLB floorplate issue had been subsumed in the direction given by the Commission with respect to PMF Investments. Additionally, suggested language has been drafted in regard to the Elan/Fortress project which the property representative has indicated is consistent with the needs of his client, so it could be moved to the consolidated code.

Commissioner Morisseau said she and Commissioner Hilhorst were concerned after speaking to the Elan/Fortress stakeholder that the proposed approach could be deemed spot zoning. She asked how many sites within the DT-MU B-2 overlay would be impacted by the change. Ms. Helland said staff conducted a review and found the approach not dissimilar to what was done with the Bellevue Gateway site. She said the approach acknowledges that there are thin areas where a zoning line essentially bisects a site, triggering the need for flexibility for development across the zoning line. In the B-2, the Elan/Fortress site is the only property assemblage that is bisected by the Deep B line, so the footnote would apply to the site but would not currently apply to any other site. It would not, however, be a spot zone because there could be other sites assembled that could meet the same characteristics within the B-2. The footnote allows for some flexibility with regard to variable building height for multiple towers on the site, with a maximum height of 288 feet.

Commissioner Walter said it was her recollection that the maximum tower height would be no

more than 220 feet. Ms. Helland the footnote only addresses situations where properties are split by a zoning line. The building height of 288 feet is allowed for a single building in the B-2 perimeter district adjacent to the DT-MU.

Commissioner Morisseau pointed out that the Wallace letter called for adjusting the fee in-lieu rate from \$28 per square foot to \$25 per square foot. Ms. Helland said the rate seeks to incent the amenities earned to place them on the property rather than paying the fee in-lieu. Commissioner Morisseau agreed with that notion and commented that the purpose of the amenity incentive system is to get the community what it wants and needs to the advantage of all. However, 75 percent of open space was put on the amenity incentive list for a reason and it should be built on site. The difference between \$25 per square foot and \$28 per square foot could potentially make that happen.

Commissioner Laing said his take on the fee in-lieu was different. At the CAC level and since, the big thing has been the idea of publically accessible ground floor open space, the best example of which is Downtown Park. The CAC and the Commission has recognized the difficulties associated with coming up with an assemblage. The city could choose to exercise its condemnation authority to get the land it needs for park facilities, but the Commission has been sensitive to the idea of investing fees in-lieu in the area of the project that generated the fees. He said rather than getting into the specific dollar amount of the fee in-lieu, he would prefer to do a downtown-only park impact fee, an approach that is allowed by state law by designating the downtown as a district. Any impact fees collected within the district must be kept in a segregated account and must be spent in the district. One thing about park, school and transportation impact fees is that property owners cannot be charged twice. Where there is a transportation impact fee to address a needed intersection improvement, if the developer opts to build the intersection improvement, a credit against the impact fees is awarded. In a situation in which downtown property owners and developers had a choice between putting publicly accessible ground level open space on their properties or paying a park impact fee, there would be some integrity many could buy into. Making the fee as high as possible to encourage developers to provide facilities on their properties could run up against the legal challenge of nexus proportionality, and requiring the payment of more money to not build something could be tenuous. Probably the only way to actually see more publicly accessible park space in the downtown will be by instituting a park impact fee.

Commissioner Walter noted the Commission had previously discussed the notion of having a park impact fee and she indicated her support for the approach. For every square foot of space people will live and work in, there should be an amount of space dedicated for them to recreate. Ms. Helland said a park impact fee would require a considerable amount of research and preparation to calibrate. The Comprehensive Plan calls for looking for ways and financial avenues to create park space. That could certainly be added as a recommendation in the transmittal memo.

Commissioner Walter asked Commissioner Laing if he would support a fee in-lieu of between \$25 per square foot and \$28 per square foot for amenities other than park facilities. He voiced concern over a tacit admission of overcharging. He said he would not support anything that would become a deterrent to development.

Commissioner Morisseau said she wanted to see a system put in place that will benefit the citizens and the community.

Commissioner Laing agreed but stressed that downtown Bellevue is the golden goose. The

property taxes that are generated by the downtown, along with the retail sales taxes collected there, comprise a significant bulk of the city's operating budget. The vitality and viability of the downtown is what allows the vast majority of the residents of Bellevue to pay some of the lowest property taxes in the state. Bellevue is a world-class city because of the downtown, and that is why getting the downtown code right is so important.

Commissioner Morisseau agreed but said the question is how to make sure what the Commission is trying to accomplish will actually work.

Commissioner Walter said the fee in-lieu largely comes down to do it now versus do it later somewhere else. There is invariably more cost involved in the do it later somewhere else scenario. <u>There The</u> needs to be transparency and comparability so downtown residents will know how things might change over time. She said she supported \$28 per square foot.

Commissioner Barksdale asked what the difference is between a fee in-lieu and an impact fee. Ms. Helland explained that the fee in-lieu involves participation in the amenity incentive system. Instead of building an amenity, the developer pays a fee instead. The funds flow into a pool that is used to construct the amenities for which the fees are collected. An impact fee is a construct of state law. State law allows for the collection of impact fees for transportation, parks, fire and schools. Bellevue currently collects transportation impact fees and collects for schools on behalf of school districts in the area. There must be a master plan and a capital facilities plan, and the city must demonstrate where the facilities are that are needed and how they will be charged. A component of obligation is then assigned to the development community to support building out the capital facilities plan. Impact fees are relatively complex to set up.

Commissioner Laing said the Wallace letter makes it clear that some projects have no choice but to pay the fee in-lieu. If there is a fee in-lieu that is intentionally set higher than what the impact is in order to encourage people to build rather than pay, some will be forced to pay the fee by virtue of literally not having enough property. The fee in-lieu at whatever level it is set should not have a disparate impact on those with smaller properties. Those who cannot provide amenities on their sites should not have to pay more than it would cost if they could provide amenities on their sites.

Commissioner Morisseau asked if staff could include in the code language that takes into account those situations. Ms. Helland said there are other approaches that could be utilized. One approach would be not to adjust the cost but rather to include another small site departure. She offered to have staff come back with a recommendation for a departure approach.

MINUTES TO BE SIGNED/REVIEWED (9:25 p.m.)

Commissioner Walter gave staff direction to seek review and approval of the minutes at the May 24 meeting.

PUBLIC COMMENT (9:26 p.m.)

Mr. Don Hassen, 650 Bellevue Way spoke as a resident of One Lincoln Tower. He said the 425 Center building and the Bellevue expansion will be coming online by the end of the summer. He said it would be nice to wait for those two huge buildings to be occupied in order to determine what the actual and real impact will be on the city relative to parking and traffic, as well as

livability generally. There should be no rush to come to a decision on May 24 when a much more informed decision could be made six months or so after the buildings are built and occupied.

Mr. Eric Sinn, 10906 NE 39th Place, spoke representing the Parks and Community Services Board. He said the Board recognizes the work done by the Commission and does not want to be a stopper in the process that is under way. The Board is working to develop a definition of open space and when done will share it with the Commission. On the question of whether a plaza constitutes an open space, specific examples were reviewed in which the incentive structure might not benefit the community or be sustainable to Bellevue. One example shared involved the open space or plaza that is behind Bakes Place in downtown Bellevue. The site fits the requirements but actually provides very little value to the community in regard to accessibility or visibility. It is a green space that is approached via a number of stairs, and the main access point is through the entrance to the building. The Board concluded that for a plaza to be considered open space it should be publicly visible, accessible, on publicly or privately owned land that operates or is available for leisure, play or sport, or serves to protect or enhance the natural environment, and is consistent with the desired uses of the community. He noted the willingness of the Board to continue supporting the process by addressing any particular questions.

Commissioner Walter asked if the Board reached any conclusion as to whether open space is park space. Mr. Sinn said that issue is still under discussion by the Board. There is in place a comprehensive parks and open space plan that the city follows. It is part of the long-term strategy relative to the sustainability of parks within the city. That plan, however, provides no set definition of open space. There is a clear need to come up with a definition

Mr. Jeff Taylor with the Keldoon Group, 10400 NE 4th Street, Suite 500, represented 700 112th LLC that has a property in the DT-OLB Central where the floorplate sizes if reduced by ten percent would fall to only 18,000 square feet. An efficient office floorplate wants to be around 22,000 square feet to 24,000 square feet. It all has to do with distance from the core. The Z corridors from exiting need to be a certain distance from the interior side of the hallway to the window line, making the space as efficient as possible around the entire building. The same approach is utilized across the country. The exception is high-tech companies which want bigger floorplates to get as many employees in the space as possible. The concept of reducing floorplates is good, but there should be a minimum size for office to avoid structures that will not be competitive. He voiced support for the flexible amenity but said if approval will involve going before the City Council, not too many developers will opt for it. Staff should be given flexibility to approve flexible amenities up to a maximum number of points.

Mr. Larry Martin with Davis Wright Tremaine, 777 108th Avenue NE, said he continued to find confusion the ramification of the base height and the trigger height. The dimensional standards chart beginning on page 42 in the packet has two identical columns that sets a base and trigger height for each zone. The base height appears to reflect the FAR discussions the Commission had. Properties are not allowed to build beyond the base height unless it earns amenity points. The trigger height for each zone is the very same height, but it is a separate section in the code. Developers will no longer have to provide ten percent open space upon exceeding the trigger height, but the code still calls for reducing floorplate size. There is an arbitrariness and unfairness associated with having different base height in the DT-O1 district until 345 feet or 450 feet, depending on residential or non-residential. However, in the DT-OLB Central district the trigger height and the base height both kick in at 90 feet or 105 feet, depending on residential or non-residential. The same 400-foot building in those two zones would be treated differently. The correction made to set the base FAR at 90 percent of the new maximum FAR should be

made to the base height and trigger height requirements by setting each at 90 percent of the new maximum for each zone. Where DT-OLB gets a big increase in development, they end up paying for a lot of amenities disproportionate to other zones where the increase in development capacity was not as great, even though they can build bigger buildings. It has nothing to do with impacts, it is all based on how additional development capacity is given. That takes things into the unfair and illegal zone.

Mr. Alex Smith with 700 112th LLC, 700 112th Avenue NE, noted that Mr. Martin's argument had been summarized in prior submissions to the Commission. He thanked the Commissioners for their dedication and said he looked forward the meeting on May 24.

Commissioner Barksdale asked why developers would not want to go before the Council for approval of a flexible amenity. Mr. Taylor said the assumption is that it would take a long time and be very expensive. It is also unclear when it would occur, at the beginning of the process or at some time partway through the process.

ADJOURN (9:44 p.m.)

A motion to adjourn was made by Commissioner Barksdale. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Morisseau and the motion carried unanimously.

Commissioner Walter adjourned the meeting at 9:44 p.m.

## CITY OF BELLEVUE BELLEVUE PLANNING COMMISSION STUDY SESSION MINUTES

| May 24, 2017<br>6:30 p.m. | Meydenbauer Center<br>11100 NE 6th Street, Rooms 401-403  |
|---------------------------|---|
| COMMISSIONERS PRESENT:    | Chair deVadoss, Commissioners Carlson, Barksdale,<br>Hilhorst, Laing, Morisseau, Walter   |
| COMMISSIONERS ABSENT:     | None  |
| STAFF PRESENT:            | Terry Cullen, Dan Stroh, Emil King, Liz Stead, Department<br>of Planning and Community Development; Patricia Byers,<br>Department of Development Services |
| COUNCIL LIAISON:          | Mayor Stokes  |
| GUEST SPEAKERS:           | None  |
| RECORDING SECRETARY:      | Gerry Lindsay   |
| CALL TO ORDER             |   |

(6:30 p.m.)

The meeting was called to order at 6:30 p.m. by Chair deVadoss who presided.

ROLL CALL (6:30 p.m.)

Upon the call of the roll, all Commissioners were present

APPROVAL OF AGENDA (6:31 p.m.)

A motion to approve the agenda was made by Commissioner Laing. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Hilhorst and the motion carried unanimously.

COMMUNICATIONS FROM CITY COUNCIL, COMMUNITY COUNCILS, BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS – None (6:31 p.m.)

PUBLIC COMMENT (6:32 p.m.)

Mr. Richard Gary, 10700 NE 4th Street, said he and his wife life in Bellevue Towers. He noted that the downtown livability effort is in its fifth year but despite the passage of time, the Commission and the Council was urged to defer adoption of any Land Use Code changes until the Lincoln Tower expansion and Center 425 projects are fully occupied and their impact on downtown traffic and safety is measured. Together the two projects comprise almost two million square feet of leasable space, with 3000 new parking stalls. The projects will bring thousands of

new users into the area, and like the proposed code amendments will result in added density and congestion and will have a profound impact on livability. It would be unwise and unnecessary to act until all the facts that can possibly be known are known. There is an additional reason for deferring action, namely that the terms of three City Council members expire at the end of the year. One Councilmember, Kevin Wallace, president and COO of Wallace Properties, has announced he will not seek reelection. The two other Councilmembers have said they will seek reelection. The impact of changes to the code will be both substantial and permanent, and they should be deferred to 2018 when a new Council with a longer-term outlook, and without the presence of a member with conflicted interests, will be seated. The livability initiative process has been heavily weighted in favor of developers since its inception. Nothing illustrates that better than the Commission's actions on May 10 when Commissioner Laing, a partner in the law firm that represents Wallace Properties, proposed that numerous Land Use Code modifications set forth in a letter dated April 26 from Wallace Properties, and supplemented on May 10, be incorporated directly into the amendments without discussion. The Commission adopted the motion with only one Commissioner dissenting. The action was an insult to downtown residents and confirmed the suspicions of bias and self-interest that many downtown residents hold.

Mr. Bill Herman, 10700 NE 4th Street, a resident of Bellevue Towers, tried to presentshowed the Commissioners a video showing traffic on Bellevue Way backed up between NE 4th Street and I-90. The video was taken at 3:00 p.m. on a Friday. The video could not be opened on the presentation computer. The Commission has said that traffic has not changed in 20 years, that all added trips in the downtown have been absorbed by public transit, and that traffic is not currently a problem and will not be a problem. The experience, however, is different and there is still half the downtown to be built out under the existing code. The 2013 transportation study calls for another 200,000 cars per day. The study did not account for the upzone, which is about a 50 percent density increase. The draft land use audit states that only about 78 percent of available FAR has been used to date. Just increasing height will still yield a 28 percent increase in the FAR. In the DT-OLB and the DT-MU there will be a doubling of the FAR. The 1.0 FAR affordable housing exemption will apply everywhere. The residential FAR in the DT-O1 will be set at 10, and adding 1.0 for affordable housing and another 1.0 for the retail exemption will yield an FAR of 12. The Lincoln expansion weighs in at 6.5 FAR, so what is contemplated is twice that. Once action is taken by the city it will be irreversible. There should at least be a study about what should be done with the 200,000 cars but also the extra 100,000 that will come from the upzone. The methods for traffic studies that do not account for trip time, only volume, are broken. The corridor capacity report showed a drop in volume but a 46 percent increase in trip time in two years.

Mr. Andrew Miller with BDR, 11100 Main Street, noted that a few months ago the Commission proposed meeting with staff to discuss how to make reality out of a responsive design to an interesting corner of the downtown. Staff took the Commission's direction about the East Main area and looked at the properties facing Main Street. He said after a full discussion with the staff, he concurred with what was in the code. The project is reliant on getting a bump of 1.0 FAR for affordable housing. He said he was happy to see the staff and the Commission all viewing the site as a unique opportunity to do something better for the city.

Mr. Phil McBride, 11040 Main Street, took a moment to thank the Commission and the staff for their work. He said the result will be a good project for the city. It will certainly take advantage of the investment in light rail being made by Sound Transit.

Mr. Don Rich, 10700 NE 4th Street, said he moved to Bellevue from Silicon Valley six years ago and said as a result of living in a highrise in San Francisco he understood the value of the

view and aesthetics of highrise living. Business brought him to Bellevue and he said he was impressed with the wedding cake concept for the downtown and made his decision to buy in downtown Bellevue accordingly. He said his unit in Bellevue Towers faces the south side of the DT-O1 district and is high above what he anticipated to be any future development. The Fanta Group presented its plans in 2016, and concerns were expressed about light and so forth in regard to their project going up to 300 feet. It appeared to be a done deal, but now they have come back asking for more height. It is difficult to understand exactly how much height the project might be allowed. The Commission was encouraged to hold the line on the wedding cake design which offers integrity and understanding of future development, both for residents and developers. The Fanta Group's original plans apparently penciled out and they should hold the line on that and not seek to go any higher. The wedding cake should not be allowed to bleed over into other areas.

Mr. Mike Lattore, 500 106th Avenue NE, said he is a Bellevue Towers resident. He said the time for the Commission to present its recommendation to the City Council was approaching and said he would not take the time to readdress any specific codes. However, downtown residents believe the Land Use Code update has become so convoluted and complex that few know what to expect. The input from the residential community has seemed to have very little effect; it has been overshadowed by the commercial developers. There have been concerns raised about questionable participation by Councilmembers and Commissioners, with members of each having strong ties with commercial development. The Downtown Livability Initiative CAC did not have a single member who was a resident of the downtown area. Downtown residents do not believe their interests are being taken into consideration. Much input has been offered by downtown residents, but when and if considered it has been outweighed by the commercial perspective to enhance building. The proof is in the size and complexity of the proposed amendments. The codes have so many varied, undefined or unclear interpretations along with a flawed amenity incentive system, and has no follow-up or accountability built into any of the amendments that would conclude a developer met the commitment to the community. If the recommendations go forward as drafted, they will only confuse everyone with regard to what is going to be allowed in the future and with the potential of the community being taken advantage of. The objectives of the Downtown Livability Initiative was to better achieve the vision for the downtown as a vibrant mixed use center; enhance the pedestrian environment; and improve the area as a residential setting. Hopefully the Commission will present to the Council a very clear summary that is specific to how those objectives will be met.

Mr. Lance Ramsey, 500 106th Avenue NE, said he has lived in Bellevue Towers for four years. He said no one in the room was anti development, but many believe the process has not equally represented the interests of the residents. He said the people were looking for appropriate due diligence and a thoughtful process. They do not believe that has been achieved. While the process has admittedly been difficult and challenging for everyone involved, there are some on the Commission who have stood up for the residents. Furthermore, while the process has been at least in name focused on improving livability, the process has instead been largely focused on upzoning and catering to the interests of developers rather than downtown residents. Livability issues like parking and parks have been kicked down the road. The process has not been transparent and has been very hard to track. The process should be paused. There are many elements of the proposal for which their impact remains unknown. It would be irresponsible not to assess the results of all the changes to have a full public discussion about them.

Ms. Jackie Ramsey, 500 106th Avenue NE, said for four years downtown residents have been voicing their concerns regarding livability, both in person and in writing. The appearance of the numerous signs held by members of the audience was intended to call attention to the fact that

the interests of downtown residents have been subsumed by the attention and activity of those who lobby the Commission for a living, none of whom live in the downtown and must deal with the results of their decisions. It is disturbing to see the requests of a single developer become immediately incorporated into recommendations, while the recommendations of residents are routinely swept aside. That does not feel good to downtown residents who are not antidevelopment but who also are not for development at any cost. The Commission and the Council was urged to better understand the infrastructure, safety and traffic impacts of the recommendations before proceeding.

Mr. George Hatune, 10700 NE 4th Street, said he has been a resident and homeowner in Bellevue for 20 years and has worked in the downtown for the last ten years. He said he loves being able to walk to work, the park and the grocery store. Downtown Bellevue is a much better place than it was 20 years ago, with much more to do and better entertainment options. He said he is not against development and in fact wants to see more healthy development in the downtown. He said his recent purchase of a condominium in Bellevue Towers involved talking to real estate agents and planners at city hall, and reading over the current land use rules and the preliminary livability report. That did not, however, yield an accurate picture of what the true height restrictions were, what the density would be, what the buildings would be shaped like, and if the wedding cake design would be followed. He suggested revising the report to be more transparent and clear about the actual maximum heights and densities will be for each zone, including any amenities and mechanical screening around which there remains room for interpretation. A visualization of what things will actually look like if built up to the maximum heights should be created and included in the report; that would show what the wedding cake would actually look like. That would help folks make an informed decision about whether or not the plan is good.

Ms. Gina Atillo, 177 107th Avenue NE, said she is a resident of Bellevue Pacific Tower, having recently moved to Bellevue from Colorado. She said she has a child attending Chinook middle school and another at Spirit Ridge, so much of her time is spent traveling back and forth. She said she is often stuck on Bellevue Way, and things have gotten worse. She voiced concern over what things will be like in the next ten years and said she has considered moving out of the downtown. Other families have the same issues. There is currently a safety issue for pedestrians in downtown Bellevue. She said she and her children have been nearly hit by cars many times while walking to Safeway for milk, and was present when a pedestrian recently was hit and killed. She suggested adding something to the amendments a requirement for all builders to put aside money into a downtown Bellevue pedestrian safety fund. Working with the department of transportation or the police chief, a safety plan should be developed that incorporates best practices, such as speed humps on NE 2nd Street so fast cars would bottom out and have to slow down. Traffic is going to increase and pedestrian safety will suffer.

Mr. Sesh Vilapor, 500 106th Avenue NE, said he is a resident of Bellevue Towers and has for 25 years conducted research in the field of future studies and has written and spoken all over the world, especially about climate change. He said over the long term, the proposed upzone along with the existing conditions in Bellevue will add millions of tons of carbon dioxide to the atmosphere. Consideration should be given to making the upzones and the existing conditions carbon neutral. Unless the Commission assumes that climate change is a hoax perpetrated by the Chinese.

Ms. Michelle Herman, 10700 NE 4th Street, a resident of Bellevue Towers, pointed out that at the April 26 Commission meeting Commissioner Laing commented that the proposed code would not result in taller and skinnier buildings. He said if there was going to be a conversation

about changing building height, massing and form, the focus should be on requiring what will actually be a skinnier building and not just the portion of the building that exceeds the old maximum height. That is something the residents have been saying for a long time. Commissioner Laing went on to say he would consider potentially not supporting any increases, but by May 10 Commissioner Laing made a full about face by moving right off the bat to incorporate the recommendations of Wallace Properties that had been distributed just prior to the meeting and which the residents had not had time to review. His motion was approved. The proposal recommends increased floor plates, reducing the setbacks and eliminating open spaces, which are all things downtown residents oppose. The livability process has been flawed and heavily biased toward the development community since its inception. The concerns of residents about substantive and due process issues have been ignored over and over again. In recent weeks and in light of the notable shift, residents began looking into things and found real conflicts of interest which are pervasive from the City Council all the way through the Planning Commission. There is a duty for Councilmembers and Commissioners to recuse themselves from decisions where they have conflicts of interest. Violations in the context of legislative policy decisions require a showing that an official specifically intended for his or her actions to create a special benefit for himself or herself, or for another person. It seems like that has happened during the process in spades. According to the Seattle Times, Councilmember Wallace, an owner of Wallace Properties, was the one who appointed Commissioner Laing to the Planning Commission. According to the article, other Councilmembers objected, which is unusual, and felt the process by which Commissioner Laing was appointed was covert and unauthorized. There are real issues of process. Downtown residents have felt ignored; they really do care about their homes and would like the Commission to correct the mistakes that have been made over the last four-plus years.

Commissioner Laing took a moment to speak to the issue. He said of all the comments received by the Commission from the various downtown residents, he found Ms. Herman's to be the most persuasive and on point relative to the recommendation of the Downtown Livability Initiative CAC, which he co-chaired, and his own view on downtown livability. In one of her comment letters, Ms. Herman pointed out that the issue is not what goes on in the DT-OLB. Supporting an upzone and height increases and increased density in that zone might be okay, but the changes proposed for the core and other parts of the downtown, especially with regard to height increases, could be problematic. He said he had uniformly raised questions going all the way back to the CAC process about increasing heights anywhere but in the DT-OLB. The Commission meeting minutes from May 10 indicates that subsequent to his motion, the issue of heights was carved out of the recommendation and was tabled for further discussion. The minutes also reflect in the discussion subsequent to his motion that he continued to raise questions about why the city should be considering increased heights anywhere but in the DT-OLB.

Continuing, Commissioner Laing added that a little over a year ago he was accused of having another conflict of interest relating to the Fortress project. A property owner's representatives contacted him in his professional capacity as a land use attorney about helping them upzone their site. He said three times he declined to represent them. They are represented by able counsel, but he said he has continued to recuse himself from any discussion of their issue. During the past week he said he has been accused of two additional conflicts of interest, one relating to his law firm's representation of Wallace Properties on wholly unrelated matters, and his alleged representation of the Bellevue Towers residents association given his outspokenness about the proposed height increases. He said he was asked on May 23 by the City Manager if he represented the Bellevue Towers residents for those reasons. He said he had spent a couple of hours on the phone and in face-to-face meetings with other stakeholders who are concerned at

his vocal opposition to the proposed height increases and the concerns raised by the Bellevue Towers residents going all the way back to the end of the CAC process. It is ironic and somewhat hurtful that the issues are being raised at the eleventh hour. A careful review of the motion made on May 10 indicates inclusion of recommendations from five letters into the draft code for discussion purposes only without taking a position on any of them. The Wallace letter was primarily focused on the DT-OLB, and the changes made to the draft code have nothing to do with looking at heights outside of the DT-OLB. He said if the Bellevue Towers residents believe he should recuse himself from the discussion of tower heights and the proposed height increases, they are free to do so. He said he would take counsel from his follow Commissioners accordingly, but he stressed that no other Commissioner has been more opposed to the proposed height increases.

Mr. Don Hassen, 650 Bellevue Way, said he is a resident of One Lincoln Tower. He suggested the lack of attendance of the meeting was due to comments from residents falling on deaf ears. He suggested a town hall meeting should be scheduled to allow for open discussion about how to cooperate and get things done. He said his main concern is that time is not of the essence. The Commission was asked to wait for nine months to allow the Lincoln Tower expansion and the Center 425 projects are fully occupied and their impacts are determined. Once decisions are made, they cannot be undone. The whole problem could have been largely addressed by saying the building height is 302 feet rather than 250 feet, with a footnote indicating the taller height is allowed only by meeting certain requirements. When condominium buyers are seeking to purchase units, they ask their real estate agents what the surrounding heights are, and everyone is saying it is 250 feet. The documentation needs to be cleaned up very soon.

Mr. Kevin Whitaker, 10700 NE 4th Street, said he is a Bellevue Towers resident. He agreed with the comments made by the previous Bellevue Tower residents. The process has lacked transparency and access. He suggested including education pieces to help people understand the code. The actual maximum heights should be clear. He also agreed that there should be opportunity for a full back and forth between community members and Commissioners.

Mr. Ian Morrison, 701 5th Avenue, Suite 6600, Seattle, spoke on behalf of PMF Investments. He thanked the Commission for undertaking a thoughtful and deliberative process and for the work done by the Commission, the community and the staff to reach consensus on the big rock issues. He said PMF Investments has the Sheraton site at the corner of 112th Avenue NE and Main Street and is very excited about the opportunities that will result by the work done by the Commission and the staff. The DT-OLB district will support some strategic density. The Commission tasked the property owner to work with staff to find a solution relative to the treatment of the parking garages facing I-405. The idea was to yield an attractive façade for the garages. He reported that after much work and discussion with staff, a solution has in fact been identified that will work for staff and the property owners.

Mr. Patrick Bannon, president of the Bellevue Downtown Association, thanked the Commissioners for their time and commitment to shaping the draft Land Use Code. The Commission throughout the process has been receptive to public comment and thoughtful in discussing the issues. After four years of discussion, the BDA is pleased to see the draft code reach the point of transmittal from the Commission to the Council where the conversation will continue. The proposed code is far superior to the existing code. The intent of the CAC in recommending height increases has been to see more slender buildings constructed that create more light and air and a better outcome for the downtown. The Commission has limited density increases to the DT-OLB, and has leveled at 5.0 the FAR for residential and non-residential in the DT-MU district and on the gateway corner at Main Street and 112th Avenue NE. A few

additional changes to the code will continue to be strongly recommended as the process moves forward, including the base height calculation, especially in the DT-OLB where there is a dramatic gap between the base height and the maximum height where the amenity calculation occurs. Based on the comments made by downtown residents, there is a need for additional community conversation, particularly around transportation and safety in the downtown. Fortunately, the residents passed a transportation levy in 2016 that will yield funds for safety projects. The Council has also adopted a Vision Zero policy that hopefully everyone will get further engaged with.

Mr. Jack McCullough, 701 5th Avenue, Suite 6600, Seattle, spoke on behalf of Fortress Development. He observed that Commissioner Laing has brought to his deliberations a possibly unnecessarily conservative approach to disqualifying himself from discussing certain issues. For the record, he said no one from Fortress Development contacted Commissioner Laing in the early part of the proceedings. He said he has been serving as counsel for the group from the beginning. Possibly a prior owner contacted Commissioner Laing. From the point of view of Fortress Development, Commissioner Laing's recusal relative to the matters is unnecessary, though additional conservatism harms no one. He added that there are two or three projects that have been in the process for two years or more that have permits and ADRs that are waiting to come out. He said he is working with them and suggested it would be unfair and inequitable to change the rules on them at the last minute after investing hundreds of thousands of dollars. Some transition vesting language is being worked on to be incorporated into the final ordinance. He said the Commission's process, though long, has been good. Through two Commission chairs, the Commission has done a good job of providing for transparency and allowing for public input and participation. There is a certain urgency to see things wrapped up given the number of persons with sites who have been watching the process and who are looking forward to proceeding to invest in the downtown under the new code.

STUDY SESSION (7:26 p.m.)

With regard to the proposal made to delay the process, Commissioner Hilhorst explained that the Commission has clearly been directed by the Mayor to complete the process. She said forwarding the package to the Council at the conclusion of the meeting should not be interpreted as the Commission not having heard the requests made by the residents. The Commission serves atas the pleasure of the Mayor and the Council.

Comprehensive Planning Manager Terry Cullen said the public hearing for the Downtown Livability Initiative Land Use Code amendment was held on March 8 and noted that subsequently there had been several study sessions. He said the understanding is that the Commission would conclude its work by the end of the meeting and transmit the package to the Council.

Planning Director Dan Stroh said the work began with the Downtown Livability Initiative CAC which undertook a lengthy process to determine what about the code was working well and what could work better. Their findings were forwarded to the Council who in turn passed the work on to the Commission. He said the term "downtown livability" is part of a much larger agenda that includes the Downtown Transportation Plan, parks, public safety and other elements of livability. The code piece is one part of the livability agenda but not the only piece. It hones in on what the city can do to influence private development to do what it can and should to mitigate the impacts of growth for a better outcome. The downtown code has been amended at times over the years, but each amendment has been very surgical. The proposed code represents the first sweeping

update of the code since its 1981 adoption. The <u>proposed code</u>complex is very complex with many moving parts, and that is why the process has taken so long.

Continuing, Mr. Stroh said the agenda called for discussing a few outstanding issues, reviewing the final package for consistency with the Council principles and the intent of the CAC, and reviewing the transmittal memo.

Strategic Planning Manager Emil King said the work of the Commission will be forwarded along with the transmittal memo to the City Council. The Council will then hold a series of study sessions before acting to approve the package. He noted that two open questions had been included in the packet, specifically any additional direction on the ten percent floorplate reduction, and the DT-OLB South alternative design treatment for parking garages. With regard to the latter, he said the district is a gateway into the downtown and noted that agreement had been reached relative to design that includes art and green space at the lower levels, and glazing that replicates either a residential or office building from freeway height and above, though without resulting in a need to fully ventilate the space by means other than natural ventilation.

Mr. King pointed out that all public comments received had been included in the packet and the desk packet. He also clarified that the matrix on pages 17 to 22 of the packet included an annotated table of contents indicating the changes and new content for each code section. The packet from pages 23 to 169 contained the March 8 public hearing draft with strike underline of all the direction given by the Commission over the last four meetings. The Council principles were included on page 7 of the packet, along with the principles relating to the incentive zoning system that were adopted by the Council in January 2016. The packet on pages 177 and 178 included the relationship to livability statement or objectives that went out with the public hearing draft. Direction received from the Commission at the May 10 meeting was itemized on pages 2 to 6.

With regard to the issue of floorplate reduction above the trigger height, Mr. King reminded the Commission that the issue was raised by Commissioner Laing who questioned <u>ifin</u> the ten percent reduction in the draft code was sufficient to result in taller and more slender buildings. The Commission previously discussed the fact that the DT-O1 and DT-O2 districts were the zones where the issue was most pertinent given that the districts typically yield floorplates of a bigger size because of the allowances for office buildings in the 20,000 to 24,000 square foot range. Given that residential towers are not as big, the question was whether or not anything more than a ten percent reduction for residential is needed.

Turning to the DT-O2 district, Mr. King said the area is split between the area to the north of NE 8th Street, east of 110th Avenue NE, and south of NE 4th Street. He allowed that the Commission had discussed the development potential in those areas and what it could mean for that general part of the downtown and how it would be consistent with the wedding cake. Staff took the approach of looking at the Commission's current code recommendation and looking at whether redevelopment would yield buildings that could pierce the building heights. The district was reviewed in terms of the area west of 106th Avenue NE, which includes the northern part of the Avalon/Safeway project, and the area east of 106th Avenue NE, which includes Expedia and the Fanta properties. The Avalon/Safeway project did not build to the maximum building height allowed by code. The west area essentially has two 25,000 square foot redevelopment sites, provided lot ownership were to be aggregated. There is an existing 20-foot public right-of-way that runs from NE 4th Street to NE 2nd Street and it could severely limit building heights that could be achieved without taking some extraordinary measures.

Mr. King said staff looked at each of the properties. The DT-O2 zone allows FAR to 6.0, but it would take going through a process to get even a full 1.0 FAR exemption for retail. Staff also assumed the affordable housing exemption of 1.0 FAR. In a nutshell, development of each of the 20,000 square foot sites, with floorplates below the typical 9000 square feet for residential, would see buildings of up to 240 feet in height, assuming a podium filling the site and accounting for rooftop mechanical equipment. The city is not interested in vacating the 20-foot public right-of-way given that it serves a unique function.

The Commissioners were informed that the staff recommendation for the DT-O2 South was to split it into two segments divided by 106th Avenue NE and to retain the current height limit of 250 feet and the provision for an additional 15 percent increase most developments get for a total of 288 feet, as well as the five-foot increase for mechanical equipment.

Commissioner Morisseau asked if staff considered the possibility of someone coming in and buying all of the sites and pulling together a single 50,000 square foot site, and whether a building that includes an overpass over the right-of-way could achieve 345 feet in height. Mr. King said the city has in the past been approached about options to build over the 20-foot rightof-way, and has also been approached about vacating the right-of-way. The conclusion reached was that there would be no merit to pursuing either approach. If the two sites functioned as a single combined development site, the development potential could be put into a single tower exceeding 250 feet. However, given the unique circumstance of the right-of-way and the city's commitment to retaining it would mean a development could not get enough FAR to build above 250 feet or so.

Mr. Stroh said given how unlikely it is to achieve a tower in the DT-O2 South west of 106th Avenue NE, it would be a better outcome to adopt into the code the existing height limit. He said that was the staff recommendation.

Commissioner Morisseau said it was her recollection that height in the DT-O2 South district was recommended to be 345 feet. Mr. King said the current recommendation is essentially 300 feet plus an extra 45 feet, plus up to 20 feet for mechanical equipment. The currently adopted code lists 250 feet plus up to 38 feet.

With regard to the original concept for the, Mr. Stroh said the issue of requiring ten percent of the ground floor of sites be required to be a publicly accessible open space came from trying to follow through on the promise of taller buildings resulting in more slender building forms and additional open space. He said staff holds the view that the required open space is an important element of allowing additional building height, and would recommend retaining the provision in the draft code. The provision would not affect buildings that are maxing out under the existing height allowances, but if additional height is to be used, it should be accompanied by a requirement for ten percent open space.

Chair deVadoss opened the floor to input from the Commissioners.

Commissioner Laing said he would like to see a global change within the draft document to spell out all numbers using words followed by numerals in parentheses. Code Development Manager Patricia Byers said she had no issue with taking that approach, except in the tables the approach would not be practical. Commissioner Laing agreed the tables should show only numerals.

Commissioner Laing pointed out that throughout the part 20.25A, the downtown overlay section, the area the overlay applies to is alternately referred to as "downtown," "downtown subarea,"

with the word subarea sometimes capitalized and sometimes not, and "downtown district," sometimes capitalized and sometimes not. He recommended that in 20.25A.010, the general section, a single term should be defined and used. Commissioner Carlson concurred.

Commissioner Laing commented that throughout the code draft there are references to "this code" and "the code" with the word code being capitalized and not. There are also references to "Land Use Code" and "LUC" without it being clear whether the reference is to the entire Land Use Code or just the downtown subarea. He recommended at a minimum the term should be capitalized and it should be clear what is being referred to.

Commissioner Laing said there is in the draft no definition of "alley" in 20.25A.020. A definition is needed given that there is an entire section about alleys with addresses. In the definition section it is specifically stated that among the definitions not applicable to the downtown is the definition in the general code to alley. He recommended either using the existing definition for alley or creating a new one and expressed a preference for using the existing definition. Commissioner Hilhorst agreed. Commissioner Laing said the first definition not applicable to the downtown in subsection 20.25A.020.B should be stricken.

In that same vein, Commissioner Laing referred to the definition of project limit in 20.25A.020.A, the definitions that only apply in the downtown. He noted that a project limit is defined as a lot, portion of a lot, combination of lots, or portions of combined lots treated as a single development parcel for purposes of the Land Use Code. In reading through the downtown code, the most common word used to refer to the project limit is "site" which under the existing code is defined as a lot or group of lots associated with a certain application, building or buildings, or other development. The draft code repeatedly uses the word "site" even though the new project limit definition sounds a lot like what is also defined as site. Additionally, "lot" is defined as a single parcel of land irrespective of the method of legal description. He recommended eliminating the reference to "project limit" and use the definition for "site" as it is already used through the existing code. Commissioner Hilhorst said she would support making that change.

Commissioner Laing said the definition section defines "public realm" as streets, parks and other open spaces and the accessible parts of private buildings. He said it should instead refer to the publically accessible parts of private buildings. Additionally, all instances in which "public realm" is used throughout the code include the concept of publicly accessible, except in the definition.

Commissioner Laing said the definition for "interior property line" in the draft code refers to a property line other than the build-to line. He said it should refer to a property line other than the build-to line within a project site. There could be an aggregation of lots and therefore multiple property lines, but what the term refers to is the interior exterior line.

Commissioner Laing pointed out that the definition for "small site" refers to a lot equal or less than and should in fact say equal to or less than 40,000 square feet in area.

Commissioner Laing said the definition of "tower" refers to any building located in the downtown subarea. He suggested striking "in the downtown area" given that the definitions only apply in that area.

With regard to subsection B of 20.25A, Commissioner Laing noted that the section refers to definitions that do not apply in the downtown. However, the definition section of the Land Use

Code includes multiple subsections regarding building height. He recommended that the definitions that start out with building height should be listed in subsection B if the intent is that they do not apply in the downtown.

Commissioner Laing commented that throughout the code the word "which" is used where the word "that" should be used. Additionally, the words "should" and "must" are used where the word "shall" is correct.

Commissioner Carlson said it has always been his view that laws should be written as clearly and comprehensible as possible for the average lay person to read. Often the code says the building height is something like 300 feet, but then it allows 15 percent more through incentives and another 12 feet for mechanical equipment. Rather than saying 300 feet, the code should say 360 and include a footnote or asterisk indicating what the base height is and how that number can be increased. Commissioner Barksdale agreed and suggested that images providing graphical clarity should be included. He said he would also like to see included links or references to places outside the code where additional information can be found regarding the key concepts.

Commissioner Walter agreed, particularly with regard to including graphics to compare what was with what is coming. It would be best if on the website the images could be in 3-D. Chair deVadoss noted that members of the public had also called for visual representations.

Commissioner Laing pointed out that throughout the draft the word "will" should be replaced with "shall."

Commissioner Barksdale recommended having periodic focus groups with the community and use the input to iteratively improve the code. With regard to the annual performance review of the amenity incentive system, he emphasized the need to use it to identify the amenities that actually get used. He said he also would like to see targets set for each amenity and language included in the code indicating that once a set percentage of a given target is reached, there should be a discussion about whether or not to continue with that amenity.

Chair deVadoss asked how that would be done. Commissioner Barksdale said underground parking has been an amenity for many years, yet the market has shifted to where it will provide underground parking whether it is incentivized or not. As the market shifts toward including other amenities, even if they are not incentivized, the amenity should be dropped from the list. Ms. Byers said if there are amenities that are simply not used at all, it would be an easy thing to remove them from the list and possibly replace them with something else. It would be far more difficult, however, to determine an upper limit and phase out an amenity by virtue of it being routinely selected. Open space as an amenity should probably be kept on the list even if every development incorporates it. Commissioner Barksdale said the weighting for the amenities all developments are using could be changed over time as the result of a performance review, and Ms. Byers agreed.

Commissioner Morisseau commented that in order to determine trends relative to the use of various amenities, the review period should be longer. Reviewing the list of amenities used every year or every other year would not paint a true picture. The review period should be at least five years long. Commissioner Barksdale said his concept of an annual review entailed looking every year at all of the permits applied for or granted and taking stock of the extent to which the various amenities were used. Commissioner Morisseau said she understood that but reiterated that it would take several years of data to show true trend lines. Ms. Byers said an annual review could be done to mark down which amenities are used, and the five- to seven-year review could

take up those annual reports and use them to identify trends. Commissioner Barksdale agreed and said setting thresholds could trigger the need for a deeper review.

Commissioner Walter said it was her understanding that the Commission had directed staff to show building height as the maximum, including the 15 percent/10 percent and the allowance for mechanical equipment. Mr. King said the amended land use charts that start on page 58 have the 15 percent/10 percent included, but the allowance for mechanical equipment is not included. If directed to do so, staff could change the maximum building height to be inclusive of the mechanical equipment.

There was consensus to show maximum building height as being inclusive of mechanical equipment. Mr. Stroh said that change could be made, but he clarified that the mechanical height is non-habitable space. It needs to be enclosed for aesthetic purposes, but it is height of a different kind. That is why it has traditionally been listed as a separate height calculation. He said in making the change staff would seek to make clear that mechanical equipment height is different. He clarified that where the maximum building height is set at 250 feet, it will be shown as 308 feet. A footnote will be included to indicate the height includes 20 feet for mechanical equipment.

Commissioner Walter pointed out that when comparing the new code with the old code it will appear as though the Commission has recommended significant height increases in all areas. It will no longer be possible to compare apples to apples when it comes to height.

Commissioner Laing allowed that he had from the start raised the issue of the build-to line. He said the problem with it is that as defined the build-to line is the back of the required sidewalk unless upon the request of the applicant it is designated otherwise by the director. There does not appear to be criteria for the director to adhere to in making a determination, and a standardless standard is not a lawful standard. The definition is in 20.25A.020 on page 27 of the packet, and the dimensional requirements in 20.25A.060.A.1 on page 53 states that buildings are built to the build-to line which is either the property line or the right-of-way line unless otherwise determined by the director. Seattle's zoning designations often include a hyphen and a "P" standing for pedestrian-oriented overlay. Under the "P" all of the streets in the city associated with the pedestrian-oriented overlay applies is listed. Bellevue's code should at a minimum list the types of streets shown in 20.25A.010.B.4 and 20.25A.010.B.5. The draft should be clear based on street type. He proposed changing the definition of the build-to line to include the specific types of streets to which the build-to line is applicable. If it is all of them, there should be some very clear language setting for on what basis the director can designate otherwise.

Land use director Liz Stead said it would fall to her to make such decisions. She explained that flexibility is needed in the code to allow developers to pull their buildings back from the sidewalk to provide space for things like outdoor cafés and outdoor plazas. A strict interpretation of the code that all buildings must be at the build-to line, accommodation for the open spaces residents have said they appreciate would not be possible. The flexibility allows for providing some relief while keeping most of the buildings at the sidewalk in support of livability. Commissioner Laing thanked Ms. Stead for her explanation but pointed out that there is nothing said about if, when and how such flexibility decisions are to be made. Absent criteria to follow, the director is left to make decisions for personal reasons.

Commissioner Hilhorst agreed that if flexibility is to be allowed, there should be criteria governing it. Commissioner Walter added that if positions were to change in between a project that spans two different directors could wind up with a huge financial burden based on what was

on someone's mind that was not written down versus what someone else may decide.

Ms. Stead said further information about when deviating from the build-to line would be appropriate could be added to the design guidelines.

Commissioner Laing suggested language along the lines of "buildings are built to the build-to line, which is either the property line or the right-of-way line, except where a plaza, building modulation or other ground-level open space is proposed." That would put it on the developer to design it in.

Chair deVadoss commented that where the builder is given the flexibility to pull back from the build-to line, their building would have a smaller footprint and the site would have more open space. He asked why they should be restricted from being allowed to do that. Commissioner Laing suggested the concern of the city is that a regular pulling back of buildings from the build-to line to accommodate landscaping or something else could have the effect of creating a separation and obviating the pedestrian connection with what is going on inside the buildings. Retreating from the build-to line should be allowed but for specific reasons.

There was agreement to include Commissioner Laing's suggested language.

Commissioner Laing thanked staff for respectfully disagreeing with the Commission about the ten percent open space issue. He suggested flagging the fact that the outdoor plaza space was listed in paragraph B of 20.25A.030. Going forward with the Commission's recommendation, subsection B.1.a.v would need to be stricken.

With regard to 20.25A.030, Commissioner Laing noted the section talks about the applicable review. All of 20.25A.030 talks about design review but confusingly it says the director shall not approve the design review unless the master development plan is amended to include certain elements. It should refer to the design review permit. Developers <u>don'tto do</u> receive design review, rather they must go through design review. The effective approval section, 20.25A.030.A.1, should also refer to a design review permit rather than design review, and should be revised to read "Approval of the design review permit, the master development plan and/or any development agreement where required shall constitute the terms and conditions governing the development."

With regard to the departures in 20.25A.D.1, Commissioner Laing reiterated the importance of the lower case code issue in paragraph (b), the decision criteria. He referred to (b)(v) and suggested revising it to read "...allowed through a development agreement approved pursuant to...."

Commissioner Laing pointed out that 20.25A.030.D.2, which used to be titled legislative departures but which has been changed to City Council departures, and which could simply be called Council departures, the word "legislative" continues to appear in the text on the top of page 35 in the packet. He suggested the word should be deleted but said he was most concerned about "process to foster adaptive reuse of buildings that existed as of adoption date of this code…" and the same provision below. He said it amounts to spot zoning and seems to indicate the City Council can enter into a development agreement with a single property owner and allow a prohibited use in their building for adaptive reuse. The language is not consistent with RCW 36.70B.180, the state enabling legislation for development agreements which require development agreements to be consistent with adopted development regulations. He said "…process to foster adaptive reuse of buildings that existed as of adoption date of this code…"

should be stricken along with subsection (a)(i). There was general agreement to make the change.

Commissioner Hilhorst drew attention to the issue of tower spacing and said it was her understanding the Commission had previously landed on 60 feet instead of 80 feet. She proposed creating an amenity for 80-foot tower spacing to encourage developers. Mr. King said that is a recommendation that could be included in the transmittal memo.

Commissioner Hilhorst said her intent in recommending removal of the ten percent open space requirement was tied to creating a park impact fee instead. By pooling the fees, a more cohesive and planned park amenity could be created for downtown residents. Mr. Stroh said open space is very important in dense urban environments and is clearly important to livability. There are instances of dense urban development where open space has not a consideration and the resulting environment is not as livable. In the case of the downtown, there is a combination of things needed to achieve the desired level of open space. One way is through park capital investment on the part of the city, and a park impact fee would be one engine driving such investments. It is not known, however, if a park impact fee is something the Council will ultimately look favorably on, and it would take quite a while to set it up. The thinking is that at least for buildings that are going to take advantage of additional height, there should be an offset in terms of the impact resulting from the additional height. The ten percent open space tied to allowing additional height would capture that. The Commission could in the transmittal to the Council outline its commitment to achieving open space in the downtown and suggest that adoption of a park impact fee would be a better mechanism for meeting the ten percent open space. Adoption of a park impact fee could be coupled with eliminating the ten percent open space requirement, but until then the opportunity to achieve open space in exchange for height should not be lost.

Commissioner Hilhorst pointed out the need for the Commission to reach a conclusion with regard to reducing floorplate size above a certain height as a way of ensuring taller and skinnier buildings.

Commissioner Walter agreed. She commented that in the DT-O1 district, the draft code will yield skinnier residential buildings but not non-residential buildings. For non-residential, the floorplates remain the same size all the way up both under the current code and the proposed code. Residential floorplates reduce from 24,000 square feet to 22,000 square feet above 40 feet, and to 13,500 above 80 feet. Mr. King said residential floorplates will always be smaller under both the current code and the proposed code. A developer in the DT-O1 district wanting to exceed 345 feet must reduce floorplate size by ten percent based on a 24,000 square foot floorplate. Commissioner Walter pointed out that a reduction of ten percent from 24,000 square feet to 13,500 square feet. She said the issue is very complex and having a drawing would be very helpful. She also noted that the definition section includes nothing about the trigger for additional height.

Commissioner Morisseau pointed out that the Wallace letter sought an increase in floorplate size in some areas. She asked how the 30,000 square foot floorplates in the DT-OLB work with the 25 percent increase allowed between 80 feet and 150 feet, and what the new maximum floorplate size is. Mr. King called attention to page 59 of the packet and said the direction given previously by the Commission was to incorporate the changes outlined in the May 10 Wallace Properties letter, as well as the May 10 PMF Investments letter. Changes were made to the draft code relative to the non-residential or office floorplate in the DT-OLB South district. The maximum floorplate above 80 feet is 20,000 square feet, and footnote 16 allows a 25 percent increase

between 80 feet and 150 feet. The required ten percent reduction in floorplate size would occur above 150 feet. The maximum floorplate size between 40 feet and 80 feet is 30,000 square feet.

Commissioner Hilhorst referred to the DT-O2 building heights and asked if the Commission needs to approve the recommendation of staff as it was presented. Mr. King said if the Commission wants to incorporate the staff recommendation, it should either be accepted or kept as it is in the current draft.

A motion to accept the recommendation of staff relative to building heights in the DT-O2 district was made by Commissioner Hilhorst. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Laing and the motion carried unanimously.

With regard to the ten percent floorplate reduction issue, Commissioner Hilhorst said she was not ready to lock in that specific percentage. She said she would prefer to leave the issue open in the transmittal to the Council.

Chair deVadoss noted that the Parks and Community Services Board addressed the Commission on several occasions and he said he did not believe the Commission addressed their concerns around the metrics for parks and open space. He said he would rather push for a stronger case toward meeting the metrics outlined by the Parks and Community Services Board. Commissioner Morisseau agreed the transmittal memo should include a bullet point addressing the issue.

Commissioner Walter applauded the input from the Parks and Community Services Board regarding parks and open space. She proposed including the ten percent open space in the code as outlined by staff, and including in the transmittal a strongly worked recommendation to institute a park impact fee.

Commissioner Barksdale argued that open spaces provided should be more accessible by the public. The public should not have to walk far to access non-concrete open space areas in the downtown.

Commissioner Laing spoke in favor of setting the new base height or trigger height at 90 percent of the new maximum height as recommended by the BDA. He said that will level the playing field for all districts in the downtown.

A motion to maintain the requirement for ten percent open space until such time as a park impact fee is adopted was made by Commissioner Walter. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Morisseau.

Commissioner Morisseau said she would not want to see the ten percent requirement restricted to a park impact fee. She said she wants to see the park impact fee issue addressed, but not in the code itself.

Commissioner Walter said funds collected through a park impact fee, once adopted, could only be used for parks. Bellevue needs parks in the downtown, especially as more people chose to live in the downtown.

Commissioner Morisseau agreed that the issue of instituting a park impact fee should be addressed, but not in code language. She also pointed out that it has not yet been determined if open space can be termed park space.

Commissioner Barksdale said even if a park impact fee is ultimately adopted, the ten percent open space requirement should not be done away with.

Commissioner Hilhorst said her concern with going forward with the ten percent open space requirement and a request for the Council to consider a park impact fee was that the park impact fee could end up being layered on top of the ten percent open space. She said she would prefer to have a single approach for achieving park space in the downtown.

Commissioner Walter said the park impact fee could possibly used to create open space and prioritized to creating parks in the northern and southern parts of the downtown first.

Commissioner Barksdale pointed out that as development in the downtown continues, there will be less and less land available for park facilities. The ten percent open space requirement allows for the establishing of open space on private land. Mr. Stroh agreed and said the approach is aimed at assuring there will be publicly accessible open space at the ground level of buildings that are allowed to be taller. In terms of having adequate space for parks elsewhere, land would have to be publically acquired. There are some areas identified in the subarea plan for new parks in the downtown, and they are on larger pieces of land. There are some deficits that hopefully can be addressed in a coordinated fashion in time. The staff stressed that publicly accessible open spaces are not in fact public parks, but they do offer a significant amenity value. They must be designed to be attractive places and people will want to use, but they are not actually parks.

Commissioner Carlson said the interpretation he drew from the presentation made by the Parks and Community Services Board was that open spaces are less than parks. Plazas where people can go to relax and enjoy the outdoors, even if they are privately owned, are de facto parks and are good things to have. He stressed the need to keep an eye on the big picture.

Commissioner Laing said the impact of the trigger height associated with the ten percent rule varies significantly depending on where a property is located. He noted that the maximum height in the DT-OLB Central district is 403 feet, and the trigger height for non-residential is 90 feet. For the same height in the DT-MU Civic Center, the trigger height is at 115 feet. The equates to about an additional 2.0 of FAR before triggering the open space requirement. With regard to residential buildings, in the DT-MU, where the building height is 400 feet, the trigger height is 230 feet, and in the DT-OLB the trigger height is 105 feet. The unanimous recommendation of the CAC was to extend the DT-MU zoning to the DT-OLB. As proposed, the new DT-OLB zoning has many of the characteristics in terms of height and other things, but there is a vast disparity. For the exact same building on opposite sides of the street but in different zones, the ten percent open space would kick in for residential projects at 125 feet lower. Similar issues arise in comparing DT-OLB South with the DT-MU. In regard to the DT-MU, the building will not even meet the definition of a tower as outlined in the proposed code. The 90 percent rule proposed by the BDA is simple and fair across all zones, but at a minimum the trigger heights should be equalized for the DT-OLB zones.

As a friendly amendment, Commissioner Laing said the DT-OLB Central non-residential trigger height should be 115 feet, and the residential should be 230 feet; and in the DT-OLB South the trigger height for non-residential should be 115 feet and 230 feet for residential. Commissioner Walter said she would accept the friendly amendment.

With regard to the motion on the floor relative to having both the ten percent rule and a park impact fee, Commissioner Laing pointed out that under state law a developer cannot be required

to mitigate the same impact twice.

Commissioner Carlson urged Commissioner Walter to withdraw her motion in favor of introducing a motion that incorporates what Commissioner Laing proposed.

Commissioner Walter withdrew her motion and Commissioner Morisseau withdrew her second to the motion.

A motion to reintroduce the ten percent open space requirement per the recommendation of the staff for the trigger heights, and to amend the DT-OLB Central and DT-OLB South trigger heights so that the non-residential trigger height for each is 115 feet and the residential trigger height for each is 230 feet, was made by Commissioner Laing. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Walter and the motion carried unanimously.

With regard to the floorplate reduction requirement above the trigger height, Mr. Stroh noted that as drafted the requirement is for a ten percent reduction.

Commissioner Laing said he had spent a lot of time talking to downtown stakeholders who very much want the additional height and very much want the flexibility needed to design a building. They have assured him that taller, slender buildings will be built. He said he had not heard anything that makes him believe that will in fact happen, and there is nothing in the code as drafted that actually requires that outcome. He said he wanted the record to reflect that he did not support any of the additional height increases in the downtown, with the exception of the modest increase that was proposed for the perimeter district and what has been proposed for the DT-OLB, two areas that were thoroughly discussed at the CAC level and which were unanimously recommended by that group. The CAC punted the issue of additional heights in other portions of the downtown. As drafted, there is nothing prescriptive that requires a developer going from 400 feet to 600 feet to make the building more slender. He said while he is generally supportive of the carrot over the stick, but when it comes to taller more slender buildings, the stick approach might be the better approach.

Commissioner Walter suggested that any floorplate reduction of less than 20 percent would be imperceptible. She recommended 25 percent as a starting point for discussion. Commissioner Hilhorst said that seemed fair to her.

Mr. King remarked that the market generally wants to deliver floorplates of 24,000 square feet for office. A ten percent reduction would take that down to 21,600 square feet. A 25 percent reduction would take it down to 18,000 square feet above the trigger height. The point of the floorplate reduction is to result in more slender buildings, but the market dynamics need to be taken into account.

Commissioner Laing said the conversations at the CAC level included the notion of increasing building height as a way of achieving an iconic skyline. There was a concern voiced about not wanting everything to look like a well-manicured lawn with everything the same. There is nothing in the draft code that requires any developer to do that. As a practical matter, allowing more height without additional FAR will mean floorplates will have to be reduced. A 25 percent reduction would result in a meaningful and noticeably reduced façade length. Several stakeholders, however, have stated that in reality no one will ever build an office building to the maximum height because they will run out of FAR well short of that mark. It will be residential buildings that will seek to go higher, and their floorplates are smaller anyway. Reducing residential below 13,000 square feet may not even be viable. A ten percent floorplate reduction

will not stop anyone from developing a building, but it potentially will not result in a form the Commission has talked about.

Commissioner Walter said if that is the case, there is no reason to allow buildings up to 600 feet in the downtown core. Commissioner Laing said there conceivably could be a site in the DT-O1 that is large enough to accommodate a single tower up to 600 feet, with all floorplates up to 345 feet at the full 24,000 square feet and all subsequent floors reduced to 21,600 square feet. In that scenario, however, the single tower would have a massive amount of space around it.

Commissioner Hilhorst asked if the Commission could offer a recommendation for the Council to review a floorplate reduction of between 10 and 25 percent above the trigger height and allow them to have the thorough discussion. Mr. King asked if the focus would be only on the downtown core or in all of the zones, and if the floorplate reduction of more than ten percent would apply only to office buildings. Commissioner Hilhorst allowed that the focus had been on just the downtown core.

Mr. Stroh said the way to translate the approach into the code would be to say where there is height above the trigger height, the recommendation would be to include a range of between 10 and 25 percent for non-residential buildings, then in the transmittal memo explaining the thinking behind the recommendation and what the intent is. He said he would have the same apply across the downtown. On the residential side, there would be no floorplate reduction given the smaller floorplates.

Commissioner Laing said it would require a site about nine acres in size in order to get to 288 feet in the DT-O2 zone, and an additional nine acres in order to get to the 460 feet with full-sized floorplates.

A motion giving direction for non-residential buildings to include above the trigger height a floorplate reduction ranging from 10 to 25 percent across the downtown districts, and a ten percent reduction for residential buildings above the trigger height, was made by Commissioner Walter. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Laing and the motion carried unanimously.

With regard to the issue of setting the base building height at 90 percent of the new maximum building height for each district, Commissioner Morisseau said she would be uncomfortable doing so given that the Commission had not thoroughly discussed it. Mr. Stroh said the original staff recommendation took into account the need to have enough height to use the base FAR. It recognized the fact that increasing the base FAR triggers the need for additional height to use it. In the original proposal where the FAR was being increased, the new base heights were set at what are currently the maximum heights. For example, in the DT-O1 district, the base height in the current code is 450 feet. The current code provides for a substantial increase across the board in the base heights. The notion of setting the base height at 90 percent of the new maximum heights applies more broadly than the FAR because as has been pointed out there are only a few areas in the downtown where additional FAR is being added. There are, however, numerous districts in the downtown where additional height is provided under the draft code. In the DT-O1, for instance, no FAR is added, but the height increases from 450 feet to 600 feet. The eighth Council principle for downtown incentive zoning calls for ensuring participation in the updated incentive system in order to achieve any increases in the currently permitted maximum densities and/or heights. The idea is that with additional height there will be opportunities for more slender buildings, additional open space, and some charging for the amenity system to offset some of the impacts of additional height. If the 90 percent rule were adopted, in the DT-O1 district, the base height would become 540 feet. That would mean an increase from 450 feet to 540 feet without

any participation in the incentive system. Some developers might decide that 540 feet is high enough and they would not have to participate in the incentive system at all. As previously directed by the Commission, the base FAR is set at 90 percent of the new maximum FAR. Because the FAR will not change in most districts, with the old maximum heights becoming the new base heights, the old maximum FARs can be achieved. It is possible that with the new higher bases, additional height will be needed, but that analysis has not been done.

Commissioner Laing said his biggest concern lies with the DT-OLB and the vast disparity with the base building height, which is the same issue associated with the trigger height.

A motion to make the base height and trigger height for both residential and non-residential in the DT-OLB Central and DT-OLB South districts the same as the trigger height for the additional height in those zones was made by Commissioner Laing. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Carlson.

Commissioner Laing noted for the record that the trigger height for non-residential is 115 feet, and for residential it is 230 feet.

The motion carried unanimously.

Commissioner Morisseau said she would like to see the Commission add to its recommendation to the Council the legal ramifications of the amenity incentives. She noted that the staff on several occasions promised a presentation to the Commission but did not follow through.

Commissioner Laing noted that a written communication had been received from PMF Investments regarding parking structures in the DT-OLB. He said it was his understanding that the PMF Investments representatives and staff met and came to an agreement but said he was not sure that agreement had made its way into the draft code. Mr. King said it would be proper for the Commission to move inclusion of the agreement.

A motion to include in the draft code the recommendation outlined in the May 24, 2017, PMF Investments letter delivered to the Commission by Ian Morrison was made by Commissioner Laing. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Morisseau and the motion carried unanimously.

Commissioner Laing called attention to veterinarian hospitals and clinics in the use tables on page 52 and suggested "hospital" should be changed to read "animal hospital." He noted that the use table regarding culture, entertainment and recreation has a category for boarding and commercial kennels. The associated footnote 6 explains that boarding and commercial kennels are allowed as subordinate uses to veterinary clinics and hospitals, which should also read "animal hospitals." There is also a provision in the code that allows for boarding or commercial kennels on page 46 in footnote 9, which refers back to the table on page 44, which refers to boarding and commercial kennels being permitted as subordinate uses to pet grooming or pet daycare. He suggested that footnote 6 should also refer to pet grooming or pet daycares.

There was agreement to make that change.

Commissioner Laing called attention to the limitations on modification in part 20.25A.D.2 on page 36. He noted that in paragraph (c)(ii) it states that development agreements may not be used to depart from the FAR bonus values, and suggested that it should say "shall not be used." He further noted that in paragraph (c)(iii) the phrase "are not appropriate" should read "shall not be

used." The changes are needed to avoid having developers make an end run around staff to get four Councilmembers to vote for something that they could not get the staff to approve. Additionally, in paragraph (c)(iv) "shall not be used" should replace "may not be used" for much the same reason.

There was agreement to make the changes.

Commissioner Walter called attention to section 25.25A.C. page 86 regarding shared parking and suggested the language of paragraph (C)(3)(b)(i) should refer to an independent parking analysis performed by a professional traffic engineer. She also proposed eliminating paragraph (c)(iii) entirely. The analysis must be focused on the specific site in the specific location.

There was agreement to make the changes.

Chair deVadoss commented that the Parks and Community Services Board serves the Council, and the Council is able to get their feedback directly and to make sure the Board is in agreement. Additionally, he said he has on multiple occasions reached out to the Transportation Commission for feedback but has not met with success. He said he would like that group to provide input regarding traffic directly to the Council.

Mr. Stroh said that is certainly something that could be included in the transmittal memo. He said the transmittal memo will also capture the Commission's comments regarding establishing a parks impact fee; the floorplate reduction range of 10 to 25 percent; ensuring the incentive zoning system is on solid legal ground; the 1.0 FAR affordable housing exemption with the use of the multifamily tax exemption; the need for a comprehensive downtown parking study; and the need for a fund accounting system for collected fees-in-lieu;

Commissioner Walter pointed out the need to including a timeline on the use of fees in-lieu so that they cannot be collected and allowed to build up indefinitely. She noted that in some jurisdictions, fees not used within a set period of time are refunded. Mr. Stroh said he could include mention of that in the transmittal memo.

REVIEW OF MINUTES (10:18 p.m.)

A. April 19, 2017

Commissioner Walter noted that in the last paragraph on the first page "Steward Heath" should read "Stewart Heath."

A motion to approve the minutes as amended was made by Commissioner Laing. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Hilhorst and the motion carried unanimously.

B. April 26, 2017

A motion to approve the minutes as submitted was made by Commissioner Laing. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Barksdale and the motion carried unanimously.

C. May 10, 2017

There was agreement to defer approval of the minutes until the next Commission meeting.

## PUBLIC COMMENT (10:20 p.m.)

Mr. Jack McCullough, 701 5th Avenue, Suite 6600, Seattle, provided the Commissioners with written copies of information regarding the Bellevue Technology Center Comprehensive Plan amendment. He said the site was the subject of a Comprehensive Plan amendment three years ago in which the focus was on setting up a process. The amendment was ultimately withdrawn on the encouragement to go forward with a rezone. Two and a half years were spent working on a rezone with the staff to the tune of hundreds of thousands of dollars. During last winter issues arose regarding traffic modeling and the suggestion was made that the better course of action would be to seek a Comprehensive Plan amendment. The intent is to get in front of the City Council with information regarding the issues and to have the Council make a decision. If the Commission passes the proposed amendment through the first round, which will not equate to an endorsement, there will be key issues to be evaluated, including public benefit, additional traffic analysis specific to the site, and looking at phasing development keyed to traffic improvements. One approach would be to pass the amendment through to the next round but add special conditions to it to make it clear certain information needs to be carried forward to the Council.

Mr. Eric Sinn with the Parks and Community Services Board reaffirmed the commitment of the Board to work in partnership with the Commission. He noted that the Board is actively working with the Department of Parks and Community Services to developing a definition of open space. He also noted that a suggested definition of plaza had been submitted. The Commissioners were thanked for discussing the issue of a park impact fee and recognizing the value of having park facilities. There was a definitive example of the financial benefit of parks highlighted in the *Bellevue Reporter* when the Spark apartments in the Spring District were opened. In the article, reference was made to the fact that REI made the decision to locate its headquarters there was made on Bellevue's commitment to green space. The Commission was asked to recognize that parks create value.

## ADJOURN (10:26 p.m.)

A motion to adjourn was made by Commissioner Carlson. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Laing and the motion carried unanimously.

Chair deVadoss adjourned the meeting at 10:26 p.m.